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关于作者

Sir Arthur Conan Doyle

Sir Arthur Conan Doyle (1859–1930), born in Edinburgh, Scotland, is best known as the creator of Sherlock Holmes. He started writing after working as a doctor and soon became one of the world's bestknown authors. Four other books by Conan Doyle are also available in Bookworms: three Sherlock Holmes stories, The Blue Diamond, The Emerald Crown
 and The Sign of Four
 , and an adventure story, The Lost World
 .

阿瑟·柯南·道尔爵士

阿瑟·柯南·道尔爵士（1859-1930），出生于苏格兰的爱丁堡，因创造了夏洛克·福尔摩斯这一形象而闻名。他原为医生，后开始写作，并很快成为世界上最著名的作家之一。“书虫”系列另有四本柯南·道尔的作品，其中三本讲述夏洛克·福尔摩斯的故事：《蓝色宝石》、《绿玉王冠》和《四签名》，另外一本为探险故事《失落的世界》。


ACTIVITIES

BEFORE READING

1 Write sentences describing these people from The Norwood Mystery
 .
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a
 Sherlock Holmes
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b
 Doctor Watson
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c
 John McFarlane
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d
 Inspector Lestrade
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e
 Mrs McFarlane
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f
 Sergeant Judd
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g
 Mrs Lexington
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h
 Jonas Oldacre

2 Which of these things do you think you will read about? Tick two boxes.


a
 □ Sherlock Holmes tries to find the murderer of Mrs McFarlane.


b
 □ Jonas Oldacre marries Mrs McFarlane.


c
 □ Inspector Lestrade arrests John McFarlane for murder.


d
 □ Mrs Lexington asks Sherlock Holmes for help.


e
 □ Sherlock Holmes saves an innocent man.


f
 □ Sergeant Judd is a criminal.


g
 □ Dr Watson investigates a murder without Holmes.



Chapter One
 　A wild, excited young man

第一章　狂乱激动的年轻人
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'Life in London is not what it was,' said Sherlock Holmes to Dr Watson. They were sitting at the breakfast table in their Baker Street rooms one morning in the summer of 1894. Holmes was smoking a cigarette and Watson was reading the newspaper.

'True, Holmes,' said the doctor. 'For most people life is much better now.'

'But for me, Watson, life is not so interesting,' explained Holmes. 'I loved to read the newspaper, hoping to find some news of an interesting crime for me to investigate
 or a dangerous criminal for me to catch. Where are all those clever criminals
 these days?' He smiled sadly
 .

'Sometimes I don't understand you, Holmes,' said Watson. 'I like living a quiet life myself.'

Holmes did not reply, but opened his newspaper in a lazy way and started to read. Suddenly they heard a loud knock
 at the street door downstairs. They heard the knock again and again. Mrs Hudson, the housekeeper
 , ran to open the door and a wild, excited young man fell into the hall
 . He pushed the poor housekeeper out of his way and ran up the stairs.

'Who are you, sir?' asked Watson. 'And what do you want?'

The young man looked at Watson, then at Holmes, and started to explain.

'I'm sorry, Mr Holmes, I'm sorry,' he said. 'Please don't be angry. I feel so afraid, Mr Holmes.'

Holmes asked the young man to come into the room and told him to sit down.

'Have a cigarette,' he said, 'and tell us who you are and why you have come here.'

The man took a cigarette from the box on the table, and Watson lit it for him. After some minutes he stopped shaking and spoke.

'My name is John McFarlane,' he began. Neither Holmes nor Watson knew the name.

'And?' asked Holmes.

'And,' replied McFarlane, starting to shake again, 'I am in terrible trouble
 . You must help me, Mr Holmes. The police want to arrest
 me and send me to prison. And I have done nothing, Mr Holmes, nothing.'

'Interesting,' said Holmes, 'very interesting. Don't you agree, Watson?'

Watson saw that his friend was excited by this mystery
 , and wanted to know more.

'Mr McFarlane,' Holmes went on, 'why do the police want to arrest you? What have you done?'

'Nothing. I told you, I've done nothing. But they think that I murdered a man called Jonas Oldacre, a builder
 who lives – who lived – in South London, at Norwood.'

Holmes lit another cigarette. 'I'm very sorry to hear this, Mr McFarlane. Please tell us your story.'

[image: alt]


McFarlane saw Watson's newspaper on the breakfast table and opened it.

'It's here,' he said, 'in today's newspaper. The story of the murder of Jonas Oldacre. I'll read it to you. Terrible crime at Norwood: Murder of well-known builder.
 The police are sure that I am the man who killed him. They've followed me here from the station and are waiting to arrest me. This news will kill my poor old mother, Mr Holmes, it will kill her.'

McFarlane was still shaking and smoking his cigarette. Watson looked at him in an interested way. McFarlane was a goodlooking young man with bright blue eyes and long hair, but he looked very afraid. He was about twenty-seven years old and Watson could see that he came from a good family.

'If the police are following you,' said Holmes, 'we must work quickly. Mr McFarlane, please have another cigarette. Watson, could you take the newspaper and read us the story?'

Watson opened the newspaper and started to read.

Sherlock Holmes listened carefully, his eyes closed, as Watson read the story from the morning newspaper.


Murder of well-known builder



Late last night, or early this morning, a terrible crime took place at Norwood in South London. Mr Jonas Oldacre has lived at Norwood and has worked there as a builder for many years. He is fifty-two years old, unmarried, and he lives in Deep Dene House on the Sydenham Road. The people of Norwood know Mr Oldacre as an unusual man. He does not often leave his house, but his business has made him very rich. There is a small timber yard
 behind his house and last night, at about midnight, a man who was out walking saw that some of the wood there was on fire. He immediately called the fire brigade
 , who arrived soon after. The wood was very dry and burned quickly, so it was impossible to put out
 the fire. The fire brigade were surprised when Mr Oldacre did not come out of the house, and two of their officers went inside to look for him. But Mr Oldacre was not in the house. In the bedroom the two men found an open safe
 , which was empty. There were papers on the floor and bloodstains
 on the walls. The men also found a bloodstained walking stick
 in the room. This stick belongs to Mr John McFarlane, who visited Mr Oldacre at his home yesterday evening. The police are sure that they know the motive
 for the crime and are looking for Mr McFarlane. They will arrest him when they find him. At Norwood, police now say that Mr Oldacre's bedroom windows on the ground floor of the house were open. They have found some burnt remains
 , possibly of a body, in the fire in the timber yard. The police think that there has been a murder. They say that the criminal killed the builder in his bedroom, then pulled his dead body into the garden and burned it in the timber yard. Inspector Lestrade of Scotland Yard is the policeman who is investigating this most terrible crime.



'This is very interesting,' he said at last. 'Can I ask, Mr McFarlane, why the police have not already arrested you? I understand from the newspaper that they are sure you murdered Mr Oldacre.'

'I live at Torrington Lodge, Blackheath, with my mother and father, Mr Holmes, but last night, after my business with Mr Oldacre, I stayed in a hotel at Norwood and went to work from there this morning. I knew nothing about this crime until I was on the train, when I read the story in the newspaper. I understood immediately that I was in terrible trouble, so when my train arrived at the station I ran to Baker Street to see you, Mr Holmes, and to tell you that I am not a criminal. I did not murder Mr Jonas Oldacre. The police, I'm sure, were waiting for me at work and also at my father's house at Blackheath. A man followed me here from the station and –'

Suddenly there was another knock at the street door. Then they heard men on the stairs, and Inspector Lestrade entered the room with two other policemen.

'Are you Mr John McFarlane?' he asked.

The young man stood up, his face white.

'I am,' he said.

Lestrade gave him a long look. 'John McFarlane, I am arresting you for the murder of Mr Jonas Oldacre, the builder, of Norwood, South London.'
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investigate
 v.
 to find out about something 调查



criminal
 n.
 a person who does something that is against the law 罪犯



sadly
 adv.
 in an unhappy way 难过地



knock
 n.
 the noise when someone hits a door 敲门声



housekeeper
 n.
 someone who looks after a person's house 管家



hall
 n.
 a room in the middle of a house from which you can go to all the other rooms 门厅



trouble
 n.
 difficulty 麻烦



arrest
 v.
 to take a person to prison 逮捕



mystery
 n.
 something that you cannot explain easily 谜



builder
 n.
 a man who makes houses 建筑师



timber yard
 a place where wood is kept 贮木场



fire brigade
 if your house is on fire, you call the fire brigade 消防队



put out
 to stop something burning 扑灭



safe
 n.
 a very strong box that people put money and other expensive things in 保险箱



bloodstain
 n.
 mark made by blood 血迹



walking stick
 a stick to help you walk 手杖



motive
 n.
 the reason for a crime 动机



remains
 n.
 what is left 残骸






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

1 Are these sentences true or false?

Tick the boxes.


a
 Holmes and Watson are sitting at the breakfast table when John McFarlane knocks on their door.


True ☑　False □



b
 Holmes's housekeeper, Mrs Hudson, opens the door to McFarlane.


True □　False □



c
 McFarlane is very excited.


True □　False □



d
 Watson knows McFarlane's name.


True □　False □



e
 McFarlane says that the police want to send him to prison.


True □　False □



f
 Jonas Oldacre lives in Blackheath.


True □　False □



g
 McFarlane lives alone.


True □　False □



h
 Lestrade wants to arrest McFarlane for the murder of Jonas Oldacre.


True □　False □
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2 Match the first and second parts of the sentences.
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WORD WORK

Correct the boxed words in these sentences. They all come from Chapter One.


a
 There were important papers in the sale
 . 
　safe　




b
 A young man came into the ball
 . _______________


c
 They heard a clock
 at the door. _______________


d
 He had a talking brick
 in his hand. _______________


e
 What was his motor
 for killing the man? _______________


f
 He explained that he was in terrible tremble
 ._______________


g
 Holmes was excited by the history
 ._______________


h
 Jonas Oldacre was a South London building
 ._______________


i
 There were floodstains
 on the walls. _______________


j
 The police found some burnt reminds
 in the timber yard. _______________


k
 Can you put off
 that fire with some water? _______________


l
 She cried badly
 when her cat died. _______________

GUESS WHAT

What happens in the next chapter? Tick four boxes.


a
 □ Holmes listens to McFarlane's story.


b
 □ We learn more about Inspector Lestrade.


c
 □ We learn more about McFarlane's family.


d
 □ Lestrade asks McFarlane some questions.


e
 □ McFarlane says that he killed Jonas Oldacre.


f
 □ Holmes decides to go to Blackheath.


g
 □ The police take McFarlane away.


h
 □ Lestrade has breakfast with Holmes and Watson.



Chapter Two
 　McFarlane's story

第二章　麦克法兰的故事


McFarlane put his head in his hands and sat down. 'Mr Holmes, help me, please.'

Holmes turned to Lestrade. 'Inspector,' he said, 'perhaps you can give us half an hour? I'm interested to hear Mr McFarlane's story.'

'And I'm sure it will be a very good story,' replied Lestrade. 'But it won't be true.'

'Please, Inspector,' said Watson.

Lestrade thought for a long time. 'All right,' he agreed at last. 'You've often helped us, Mr Holmes. But I must stay with Mr McFarlane and I will listen very carefully to everything that he says. You have half an hour,' he went on, looking at his watch.

'Thank you, Inspector,' said McFarlane.

'You can thank Mr Holmes,' replied Lestrade, sitting down opposite the young man.

'First,' McFarlane began his story, 'I know nothing about Mr Jonas Oldacre, only his name. My parents met him many years ago and they were friends for a long time. But Mr Oldacre moved to Norwood, I understand, and after that they never saw him. So I was very surprised when he walked into my office at three o'clock yesterday afternoon. I work in the City
 of London as a lawyer
 . When he told me why he wanted to see me, I was astonished
 .' Here he stopped and looked first at Holmes, then at Lestrade.

'Go on,' said Lestrade at last.

'He had some papers in his hand, these papers.' McFarlane took them out of his pocket and put them on the table. '"This is my will
 ," he said. "I've written it myself. But you are a lawyer. Please copy
 it for me. I will wait." I agreed to do this. I started to copy the will but was very surprised when I read that he wanted to leave everything to me! Mr Oldacre was a strange little man with very white hair and grey eyes. When I looked at him, I saw that he found my surprise very funny. He laughed and told me that he was unmarried and had no children. He knew my mother and father when he was a young man and wanted to help me to make my way in the world because I was their son. I didn't know what to say, but I thanked him warmly and finished the will. Here it is.' McFarlane showed Holmes a blue piece of paper. 'Mr Oldacre then asked me to go to his house at Norwood yesterday evening because he had more papers there that I needed to see. I didn't want to go, but I had to. "You must promise not to tell your mother or father about this," he said. "It must be a wonderful surprise for them." I promised him that I would say nothing, but I didn't understand why it was so important to him.'
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'I took the train to Norwood and arrived there at about nine o'clock. It was difficult to find Mr Oldacre's house on the Sydenham Road and it was nine-thirty when I at last knocked on the door of Deep Dene House.'

'Stop,' said Holmes. 'Who opened the door to you?'

'It was Mr Oldacre's housekeeper,' McFarlane replied. 'A woman of about fifty-five years.'

'And she told Mr Oldacre that you were there?' Holmes went on.

'That's right,' McFarlane agreed. 'She then took me into the dining room
 , where Mr Oldacre was waiting for me. We ate a light meal of sandwiches and fruit, then Mr Oldacre took me to his bedroom. There was a safe in the corner of the room, and Mr Oldacre opened it and took out a lot of papers. We looked at them together and didn't finish until about half past eleven. Mr Oldacre said that we mustn't wake up the housekeeper, so I left the house by the French windows
 in the bedroom, which were open. I couldn't find my walking stick, but Mr Oldacre said that he would give it back to me next time. "I hope you will come back often," he said. When I left, Mr Oldacre was in his bedroom and the safe was open. His papers were on the table. It was too late for me to go back to my father's house at Blackheath, so I went to a hotel called the Anerley Arms in Norwood and spent the night there. I knew nothing more about Mr Oldacre until I read the story in the newspaper this morning. And everything that I've told you is true.'

Lestrade looked at Holmes. 'Any more questions?'

'Possibly,' said Holmes. 'But first I must go to Blackheath.'

'You mean Norwood,' said Lestrade.

'Perhaps,' replied Holmes with a strange smile. The Inspector didn't understand, but said nothing.

'Mr McFarlane?' said one of the other policemen, who was waiting at the door. 'Come with us, please.'

McFarlane stood up and the two policemen took him down the stairs and out into Baker Street. Lestrade stayed in the room with Holmes and Watson. Holmes looked at McFarlane's papers, which were still on the table.

'Interesting,' he said. 'Mr Oldacre's writing is very easy to read in some places, but very difficult to read in others. And here it's impossible. Can you read this, Watson?'

Watson agreed that it was impossible to read.

'And why is that?' asked Holmes.

'I've no idea,' Watson replied.

'Is this important, Mr Holmes?' asked Lestrade.

'Possibly,' said Holmes. 'Mr Oldacre wrote his will on a train. We can read everything that he wrote when the train was at a station, but it's impossible to read what he wrote when the train was moving. Mr Oldacre spent the journey writing his will, so his train was an express, which stopped only once between Norwood and London Bridge.'

'Very interesting, Mr Holmes,' said Lestrade, 'but I have a murderer to see. I must go. Goodbye, Mr Holmes, Dr Watson.'

'Goodbye, Inspector,' said Holmes with a smile.
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the City
 a part of London with a lot of banks and offices 伦敦城（指位于伦敦市中心的银行和金融中心）



lawyer
 n.
 someone who works to help people with the law 律师



astonished
 adj.
 very surprised 吃惊的



will
 n.
 the paper that you write and sign which says how you want to divide your money between people in your family when you die 遗嘱



copy
 v.
 to write something again 誊写



dining room
 the room in a house where people eat 餐厅



French windows
 glass doors 落地窗






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Put these sentences in the correct order. Number them 1–11.


a
 □ Oldacre asks McFarlane to copy his will.


b
 □ Oldacre and McFarlane eat sandwiches.


c
 □ McFarlane takes the train to Norwood.


d
 □ Oldacre takes papers out of his safe.


e
 □ Oldacre's housekeeper opens the door of Deep Dene House to McFarlane.


f
 □ Oldacre tells McFarlane that he wants to leave him everything in his will.


g
 1
 Oldacre walks into McFarlane's office.


h
 □ McFarlane arrives at Deep Dene House.


i
 □ McFarlane spends the night at a hotel in Norwood.


j
 □ McFarlane leaves Deep Dene House through the French windows.


k
 □ Oldacre tells McFarlane to say nothing to his parents.

WORD WORK

Use the words in the safe to complete the sentences.


a
 He worked in an office in 
the City

 of London.


b
 McFarlane was __________ that Oldacre wanted to leave him his money.


c
 A __________ helps people when they have problems with the police.


d
 My grandmother left me ￡1,000 in her __________.


e
 He asked me to __________ the words very carefully on a piece of paper.


f
 They ate their dinner in the __________.


g
 Let's open the __________ and walk out into the garden.
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GUESS WHAT

Who does Holmes speak to in the next chapter? Tick two pictures.
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a
 □ Inspector Lestrade
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b
 □ Dr Watson

[image: alt]



c
 □ John McFarlane
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d
 □ John McFarlane's mother
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e
 □ John McFarlane's father
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f
 □ Jonas Oldacre
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g
 □ Jonas Oldacre's houskeeper



Chapter Three
 　A visit to Blackheath

第三章　探访布莱克希斯


'Tell me, Holmes,' said Watson when they were alone again, 'why is it important that Mr Oldacre wrote his will on the train?'

Holmes lit a cigarette. 'Because it means he wrote it yesterday on his journey to see Mr McFarlane. I think it's very strange that he worked on these important papers on the train. Perhaps they weren't so important for him.'

'What are you thinking, Holmes?' asked Watson.

'I'm not yet sure what has happened here, Watson,' Holmes replied, 'but give me time, give me time. Now I must leave you and go to Blackheath. I need, I think, to speak to Mr McFarlane's mother and father.'

Holmes put on his coat. 'While I am out, Watson, ask yourself this question. Is Mr McFarlane a stupid
 man? I think not. But does a clever man immediately kill someone who has just promised to leave him everything in his will?' Holmes gave Watson a long look. 'Goodbye, Watson. Until later.'
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When Sherlock Holmes needed to think, he liked to walk, and this morning he decided to walk all the way from Baker Street to London Bridge. His long legs moved quickly as he crossed the city. A lot of people stopped to look at the tall detective as he made his way to the station, but Holmes didn't see them. He was thinking about John McFarlane and Jonas Oldacre, and asking himself if McFarlane was a murderer. He really didn't think so, but he knew that it would be difficult to convince
 Inspector Lestrade of Scotland Yard. To Lestrade, McFarlane was the murderer of Jonas Oldacre. He had a good motive and he spent the evening at the builder's house.

Holmes arrived at London Bridge Station and found that he had to wait twenty minutes for the next train to Blackheath. He bought the late morning newspaper and read: Norwood Murder. Man Arrested
 . Holmes didn't read the story, but looked at the end: Says Inspector Lestrade, 'I think we have our man.'
 Holmes bought a ticket and got on the train. Soon he was leaving London and travelling south to Blackheath.

It was a little before eleven thirty when he knocked on the door of the McFarlanes' house. It was a large house with a long, green garden at the front, and Holmes was a little surprised when Mrs McFarlane herself answered the door.

'Mrs McFarlane? Good morning. My name is Sherlock Holmes and I am trying to help your son in his time of trouble.'

'Oh, Mr Holmes, please come in,' the woman replied.

Holmes followed her into a small room at the back of the house, where a fire was burning brightly. They sat down.

'John is not a murderer,' she began immediately. 'I know my son, Mr Holmes and –'

Holmes held up his hand.

'Mrs McFarlane,' he said, 'I can see that you're very worried, but there are some questions that I must ask you.'

'Anything,' she replied. 'Please ask me anything.'

'What can you tell me about Mr Jonas Oldacre?'

At this question Mrs McFarlane was suddenly very excited.

'He is – or was – a very bad man,' she said. 'A long time ago, he and I were friends. He wanted to marry me, but I found out that he was a cruel
 man, a dangerous man. I told him that I didn't want to see him again and six months later I married my husband, John's father. He wasn't rich like Oldacre, but he was a good man – he is a good man, Mr Holmes, and a good father to John. We've always been a happy family. And now this!'

'What did Oldacre do when you sent him away?' Holmes went on.

'He was angry, very angry. He sent me this in the post.'

Mrs McFarlane got up and took a photograph from the desk in the corner of the room. It was a photograph of her as a young woman. There were black lines
 across her face, where many years before Oldacre once slashed
 the photograph with a knife, but Holmes could see that she was a very beautiful woman.

'It arrived the day that I married my husband.'

Holmes took the photograph from her and looked at it thoughtfully
 .

'A dangerous man,' he said.

'Oh yes,' Mrs McFarlane agreed, 'a very dangerous man.'

'It is strange, then,' Holmes went on, 'that in his will he left everything that he had to your son.'

'We don't want anything from that man, Mr Holmes. If he's dead, then I'm happy, but I know that it wasn't John who killed him.'

Holmes stood up. 'Mrs McFarlane, thank you. Is Mr McFarlane not at home?'

Mrs McFarlane shook her head. 'He's taken the train to London to see if he can help John,' she explained.

'Then I won't stay any longer,' said Holmes. 'Try not to worry too much, my good woman. If your son is really innocent
 , I'm sure we can convince the police. Inspector Lestrade is sometimes a little slow, but he is a good detective.'

'Thank you, Mr Holmes,' said Mrs McFarlane. 'I'm sure that you will do everything that you can to help John.'

'Mrs McFarlane, you can be sure of that,' Holmes replied with a warm smile.

Mrs McFarlane said goodbye to the great detective at her front door and watched him walk quickly away to the station.
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stupid
 adj.
 not clever 傻的



convince
 v.
 to make someone believe something 说服



cruel
 adj.
 unkind and liking to hurt people 残忍的



line
 n.
 a long thin mark 线，道



slash
 v.
 to cut wildly and angrily 划，割



thoughtfully
 adv.
 thinking carefully 若有所思地



innocent
 adj.
 having done nothing wrong 清白的






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Match the first and second parts of these sentences.
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WORD WORK

Find words in the train to complete the sentences.


a
 The idea of John McFarlane murdering someone who is going to leave him everything is 
　stupid　

 .


b
 Mrs McFarlane tells Holmes that her son is __________.


c
 Mrs McFarlane says that Oldacre was a very __________ man.


d
 Oldacre once __________ a photograph of Mrs McFarlane with a knife.


e
 Holmes looks at the old photograph very __________.


f
 There are long black __________ across young Mrs McFarlane's beautiful face.


g
 Holmes is sure he can __________ Lestrade that John McFarlane is not a murderer.
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GUESS WHAT

What does Holmes do in the next chapter? Tick one of the boxes.


a
 □ He goes to Scotland Yard to talk to Inspector Lestrade.


b
 □ He visits John McFarlane in prison.


c
 □ He travels to Norwood.


d
 □ He goes back to Baker Street to talk to Dr Watson.



Chapter Four
 　A visit to Norwood

第四章　探访诺伍德


Holmes arrived in Norwood early that afternoon. He had no problem finding Deep Dene House on the Sydenham Road. The builder's house was large and modern, and had a big garden with a lot of very old trees. Next to the house Holmes saw the timber yard, where the police found the burnt remains after the fire. He walked into it and saw piles of wood everywhere and also some bags of hay
 . On the ground he saw some burnt remains and he crouched down
 to look at them. Were these the remains of Jonas Oldacre's body? It was impossible to say. Holmes stood up and went back into the garden.

As he stood there looking thoughtfully at the house, a policeman came out.

'Can I help you, sir?' he asked.

'I'm Sherlock Holmes,' said the detective. 'Perhaps you've heard my name.'

'Mr Holmes! Of course I know your name, sir,' replied the policeman in surprise. He was fat, perhaps fifty years old, with a round face and bright blue eyes. 'Sergeant Judd, Scotland Yard. I'm very pleased to meet you, sir.'

'And I'm pleased to meet you,' said Holmes. 'I'm helping Inspector Lestrade with his investigation
 . Have you found anything here?'

Judd looked very pleased. His blue eyes shone
 .

'Yes, sir, we have. You know about the burnt remains in the timber yard, I suppose
 ? '

'I do,' Holmes agreed. 'I've seen them for myself.'

'Well, we've found some buttons
 in the ashes
 – and we think they're the buttons from Mr Oldacre's trousers. It's murder, Mr Holmes, we're sure of that.'

'Perhaps,' said Holmes. 'But I prefer to decide for myself. Is it all right if I look round the house and garden, Sergeant?'

'Please do, Mr Holmes, but I think that you'll find that we're right. There's been a murder and Inspector Lestrade has arrested the criminal. We can all sleep better in our beds now that McFarlane is under arrest.'
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Judd went back into the house while Holmes stayed outside in the garden. There were very few flowers and the garden was very different from the McFarlanes' garden in Blackheath. Holmes crouched down to look at the lawn
 . It was a warm day and the lawn was very dry. He looked carefully for more than an hour but found nothing interesting in the garden. Next he decided to search
 the house. The front door was open and a policeman was standing inside.

'Good morning,' said Holmes as he walked into the house.

At the end of the hall he found Oldacre's bedroom. There were no police in the room and Holmes spent a long time looking at the walls. He saw the bloodstains, which were a deep red colour, and on the floor footprints
 made by Oldacre and McFarlane. But he found no one else's footprints. He looked at the papers from the safe and he also found the builder's bank books. He spent a long time looking at these and was interested to see that Oldacre wasn't as rich as everyone thought. To Holmes' surprise, he had very little money in the bank.

He then tried to find the deeds
 to the house, but they were not with the other papers. Holmes asked himself why. When he was sure that there was nothing more to see in the bedroom, he crossed the hall to the kitchen, where he found Oldacre's housekeeper, Mrs Lexington, at the table. She was a small, dark, silent woman with grey eyes and silver hair. She didn't look at the detective when he walked into the room and spoke to her.

'Good morning. My name's Sherlock Holmes and I'm helping Scotland Yard with their investigation,' he said. 'Mrs...?'

'Lexington,' she replied without looking up. 'Mrs Lexington, housekeeper to Mr Jonas Oldacre.'

'I'm very pleased to meet you, Mrs Lexington,' Holmes went on, and sat down opposite her at the table. 'What can you tell me about yesterday evening?'

The housekeeper gave Holmes a long look.

'Nothing,' she replied. 'There's nothing that I can tell you, Mr Sherlock Holmes.'

'Really?' said Holmes. 'So you didn't answer the door to Mr McFarlane last night?'

'I did!' she shouted angrily. 'The murderer!'

'Ah!' said Holmes. 'So there is something that you can tell me?'

Mrs Lexington looked very cross
 .

'I opened the front door of this house to McFarlane at 9.30. I know now that I opened the door to a murderer!'

'And then?' Holmes asked.

'Then nothing,' she said at last. 'I was very tired and I went to bed an hour later at half past ten. My bedroom is at the other end of the house. I fell asleep immediately. I heard nothing and I saw nothing.'

'Did you sleep all night without waking up?' asked Holmes.

'The smell from the fire woke me up,' Mrs Lexington answered. 'I got out of bed and started to look for Mr Oldacre. I looked in every room of the house but I couldn't find him anywhere. He was dead, of course, I know that now. McFarlane killed him and burnt his body in the timber yard. And Mr Oldacre was such a good, kind man...'

'Please,' said Holmes, 'don't upset yourself
 . Tell me, did Mr Oldacre have any enemies?'

'Everyone has enemies,' replied Mrs Lexington. 'But Mr Oldacre lived a very quiet life here at Deep Dene House. No one in Norwood wanted to kill him. That's how I know that McFarlane is the murderer. That young man has evil
 eyes, Mr Holmes, he has the eyes of a murderer.'

'Thank you, Mrs Lexington,' said Holmes. 'Is there anything more you can tell me? Anything that could help us with our investigation?'

'I can tell you this,' answered the housekeeper. 'The police found some buttons in those remains in the timber yard this morning. Those buttons are Mr Oldacre's. They're the buttons from his trousers. He was wearing them last night.'

'You've been very helpful,' said Holmes. He stood up. 'But now I must go. Thank you for your time, Mrs Lexington.'

The housekeeper got up suddenly. 'I tried to save him, Mr Holmes, poor Mr Oldacre,' she said. 'I ran out into the timber yard, but the wood was so dry. It was burning so quickly. I can't remember the last time it rained. The smell was terrible... when I think...'
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'Thank you, Mrs Lexington,' Holmes said once more. 'Goodbye.'

He closed the door behind him as he left the kitchen. In the hall he met Sergeant Judd, who was coming down the stairs.

'Mr Holmes,' said the policeman. 'I hope that your visit has been helpful.'

'Very helpful, Sergeant,' Holmes replied. 'Thank you. And I hope that your investigation is going well.'

'We have our murderer, Mr Holmes,' the policeman answered. 'Inspector Lestrade is talking to him now at Scotland Yard. His name is John Hector McFarlane and he killed Mr Oldacre for his house and his money.'

'I'm very pleased to hear that you have your man,' said Holmes with his strange smile. 'It's obvious
 , I'm sure, that Mr McFarlane murdered Jonas Oldacre and burnt his body in the timber yard.'

'I'm happy to hear that you agree, sir,' replied Judd. 'Goodbye, Mr Holmes.'

'Goodbye, Sergeant,' said Holmes.

He walked slowly to the front door, looking carefully at the walls in the hall, and left the builder's house. Outside, he took a last look at the garden, house, and timber yard and drew
 a plan
 in his notebook before walking through the streets of Norwood to the station. It was a fine summer day, but Holmes wasn't happy.

In the train back to London, he asked himself a number of questions. Could John McFarlane really be a murderer? Was Jonas Oldacre really dead? Why did the builder suddenly decide to leave all his money to a young man that he didn't know? And why did he write his will on an express train? For now, Holmes did not know the answer to his questions, but he was sure that they were good questions to ask.




hay
 n.
 dry grass 干草



crouch down
 to bend your knees so that your body is close to the ground 蹲下



investigation
 n.
 something that a detective does to understand how or why a crime has happened 调查



shine
 v.
 (shone-shone) to be bright 发光



suppose
 v.
 to think that something is true 猜想



button
 n.
 a small round thing on clothes 纽扣



ash
 n.
 the grey stuff that you see after something has burnt 灰烬



lawn
 n.
 the grass in a garden 草坪



search
 v.
 to look carefully 仔细查看



footprint
 n.
 a mark that your foot or shoe makes on the ground or floor 脚印



deed
 n.
 the paper that show who a house belongs to （房地产的）契约



cross
 adj.
 annoyed or quite angry 生气的



upset yourself
 to make yourself feel unhappy 感到难过



evil
 adj.
 very bad 邪恶的



obvious
 adj.
 easy to see or understand 明显的



draw
 v.
 (drew-drawn) to make a picture with a pen or pencil 画



plan
 n.
 a drawing of a building that shows the shape and position 平面图






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Correct the mistakes in these sentences.


a
 Holmes finds Deep Dene House with difficulty.
 (easily
 )


b
 The builder's house is small and modern.


c
 The police have found burnt remains in the garden.


d
 Sergeant Judd doesn't know Sherlock Holmes's name.


e
 Holmes says that he is helping Sergeant Judd with his investigation.


f
 The police have found keys from Oldacre's trousers in the ashes.


g
 Judd thinks that Oldacre is the murderer.


h
 In the bedroom Holmes finds bloodstains and fingerprints.


i
 Holmes finds out that Oldacre has a lot of money in the bank.


j
 Mrs Lexington is Jonas Oldacre's daughter.


k
 Mrs Lexington says that Oldacre is alive.

WORD WORK

1 Find ten more words from Chapter Four in the word square.
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2 Use the words from Activity 1 to complete the sentences.


a
 The police think that the 
　ashes　

 are Jonas Oldacre's body.


b
 Holmes spends more than an hour in the garden, looking at the __________.


c
 Sergeant Judd's eyes __________ excitedly.


d
 After looking at the garden, Holmes decided to __________ the house.


e
 The police find some trousers __________ in the remains of the fire.


f
 There are __________ on the bedroom floor.


g
 The __________ to the house aren't in the safe.


h
 Mrs Lexington says that John McFarlane has __________ eyes.


i
 There are some bags of __________ in the timber yard.


j
 Holmes __________ down to look at the bedroom floor.


k
 Holmes __________ a plan.
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GUESS WHAT

What happens in the next chapter? Tick the boxes.


a
 Holmes arrives back at Baker Street in the middle of the night.


Yes □　Perhaps □　No □



b
 Watson is waiting for Holmes at Baker Street.


Yes □　Perhaps □　No □



c
 Holmes immediately tells Watson what he has done in Blackheath and Norwood.


Yes □　Perhaps □　No □



d
 Holmes tells Watson that he thinks that John McFarlane is a murderer.


Yes □　Perhaps □　No □



e
 Holmes tells Watson that Oldacre was a very rich man.


Yes □　Perhaps □　No □



f
 Watson starts to think that McFarlane murdered Oldacre for his money.


Yes □　Perhaps □　No □



g
 Holmes spends the night thinking and smoking cigarettes.


Yes □　Perhaps □　No □




Chapter Five
 　 Who is Mr Cornelius?

第五章　谁是科尼利厄斯先生？


It was early evening when Holmes arrived back at 221B Baker Street. Mrs Hudson opened the door to him and he followed her upstairs. Watson was waiting for him in their rooms.

'Holmes!' he cried. 'At last! Where have you been? I was worried.'

'No need to worry, Watson,' Holmes replied. 'I've been to Blackheath and also to Norwood.'

'You must tell me everything,' said Watson, who was very excited.

'Later,' answered Holmes. 'First I'must think some more.'

'But Holmes...!' Watson shouted angrily.

Holmes held up a hand.

'I must think, Watson,' Holmes said again. He walked to the corner of the room and picked up
 his violin
 . Mrs Hudson left the room, shaking her head. Watson angrily started to read a book while Holmes began to play the violin.

He played for more than an hour, his eyes closed. Watson knew that his friend was thinking deeply. He had to wait until Holmes was ready to tell him about his visits to Blackheath and Norwood.

At last Holmes put his violin on the table and sat down.

'Watson,' he said, 'it has been a strange day. I have spoken to Mr McFarlane's mother and Mr Oldacre's housekeeper, a Mrs Lexington, and still I don't know what really happened at Deep Dene House last night. Perhaps our Mr McFarlane isn't innocent after all, but an evil murderer.'

'Do you really think that, Holmes?' asked Watson.

'No, Watson, I don't,' Holmes answered. 'I still think he's innocent. But, as Inspector Lestrade tells us, he had a good motive for killing Jonas Oldacre and he was at Deep Dene House yesterday evening.'

'What did you learn from his mother, Holmes?' said Watson.

'I learned something very interesting,' replied Holmes. 'I learned that Oldacre once asked her to marry him.'

'Really?'

'Really,' said Holmes. 'And he was very unhappy when she said no to him. He was so angry that he sent her a photograph of herself which was slashed with a knife across her face. Mrs McFarlane was a very beautiful young woman, Watson. It isn't difficult to understand why the builder was so hurt when she married another man, a man with no money. The photograph arrived on the day that she married John McFarlane's father.'

'Oh dear!' said Watson. 'So Oldacre was unlucky in love.'

'Yes,' Holmes agreed. 'But it is strange that he wanted to leave everything that he had to Mrs McFarlane's son. Very strange.'

'Was Mrs McFarlane surprised?' asked Watson.

'"I want nothing from Mr Jonas Oldacre," she said,' Holmes replied, '" and my son wants nothing from him. I am happy that he is dead." I understand how she feels, Watson. She's a good woman, I am sure, too good for Mr Jonas Oldacre.'

'Did she tell you more about him?'

'No, nothing more,' said Holmes. 'Next I travelled to Norwood, to Deep Dene House, to see for myself the place where the builder met his death. It's a big, modern house with a large garden. There are a lot of trees.'

'So Oldacre was a very rich man,' Watson suggested.

'He had a large house and a large garden,' Holmes replied, 'but he wasn't so rich after all. I saw his bank book.' Here Holmes opened the cigarette box on the table and took out a cigarette. He gave his friend a short time to think about his words before he lit it.

'I see,' said Watson at last.

'Do you?' asked Holmes. 'I'm not sure I see yet. But I must go on with my story. As I said, Oldacre's house was large and modern, and next to it was the famous timber yard.' He took out his notebook and opened it on the table in front of him. 'Here, Watson, I drew a plan of it.'

Watson got up and walked across the room to stand behind Holmes and look at the plan.
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'You see,' Holmes went on, 'this is the Sydenham Road, here is Deep Dene House and this is the timber yard. On the left are the French windows which open into the builder's bedroom. As you can see, it's possible to look into the bedroom from the road.'

'Is that important, Holmes?' asked Watson.

'I don't know,' Holmes replied. 'Possibly. Inspector Lestrade wasn't at Norwood this afternoon, but I met his sergeant, a man called Judd. He, of course, was quite sure that our Mr McFarlane is a murderer. The police found some buttons in the ashes in the timber yard, you see, and these buttons were buttons from Oldacre's trousers. And so, says Sergeant Judd, the builder is dead, and so McFarlane is a murderer.'

'This doesn't look good, Holmes,' said Watson.

'No,' Holmes agreed. 'Our young friend is in deep trouble here, I'm afraid. But we must not give up
 hope, Watson. I searched the garden after talking to Sergeant Judd, but I found nothing. Then I went into the house. First I searched the builder's bedroom. The bloodstains on the walls were fresh
 , and I saw Oldacre's footprints on the floor, together with John McFarlane's. But there were no others. I looked at the papers from the safe, which were on the table, but I'm sure that some of the papers were not there. I couldn't find the deeds to the house anywhere.'

'Where do you think they are, Holmes?' asked Watson.

'I don't know. But I'm sure that our young friend didn't take them. He had no reason
 to steal the deeds if Oldacre wanted to leave his house and money to him. Well, Watson, next I spoke to the builder's housekeeper, Mrs Lexington. A small, quiet woman, she never looked at me once when she was talking to me. I am sure that she knows much more than she wanted to tell me. She agreed that she answered the front door to John McFarlane at nine thirty yesterday evening. She went to bed at ten thirty – her bedroom is at the other end of the house – and fell asleep. She woke up later and smelled smoke from the fire. She got up and searched everywhere for Oldacre, but she couldn't find him. Of course, she thinks that this is because he was dead, murdered.'

'What did she say about the builder?' asked Watson.

Holmes held up his hand. 'A good man, she told me. He had enemies, of course, as everyone has enemies, but his life at Norwood was a quiet one. Nobody wanted him dead – only his murderer, our friend McFarlane. He has evil eyes, she tells me, Watson.'

'Evil eyes?' Watson replied. 'Was the woman mad
 ?'

'Not mad, Watson,' said Holmes, 'but also not very helpful. Mrs Lexington told me very little. As I said, I am sure that she knows more.'

'Did you find out nothing at Norwood that could help McFarlane?' asked Watson.

Holmes looked thoughtful. 'Possibly,' he said at last. 'You remember I said that I saw Oldacre's bank book and that it showed that he was not as rich as everybody thought?'

Watson nodded
 .

'Well,' Holmes went on, 'when I looked at his chequebook
 I found that he wrote a lot of cheques to someone called Mr Cornelius. These were cheques for a lot of money. Who is this Mr Cornelius, Watson? And why did our builder pay him so much money? That is what I want to know.'

'This could help our young friend and prove to Lestrade that he is not a murderer, that he is innocent,' cried Watson, excited by Holmes's news.

'Perhaps, Watson,' Holmes agreed. 'But for now we have nothing more while Lestrade has McFarlane's visit to Oldacre, the buttons from the builder's trousers in the ashes in the timber yard and Mrs Lexington's story. I must say, Watson, I do not feel hopeful.'

Holmes put out his cigarette and picked up his violin again. Watson ate dinner alone that night and went to bed early. Holmes did not go to bed at all. He spent the night playing the violin, smoking cigarette after cigarette and thinking about John McFarlane and Jonas Oldacre. In the end, as the sun came up the next morning, he fell asleep in his chair.
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pick up
 to take something in your hand 拿起



violin
 n.
 a musical instrument, made of wood with strings across it 小提琴



give up
 (gave up-given up) to stop trying to do something 放弃



fresh
 adj.
 made not long ago; not old 新鲜的



reason
 n.
 why you do something 理由



mad
 adj.
 not thinking well 疯的



nod
 v.
 to move your head up and down 点头



chequebook
 n.
 a book with pieces of paper that you can write on and use to pay for things 支票簿






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Are these sentences true or false? Tick the boxes.


a
 Mrs Hudson opens the door to Sherlock Holmes when he arrives back at 221B Baker Street.


True
 ☑　False
 □


b
 Watson is very pleased to see Holmes.


True
 □　False
 □


c
 Watson reads the newspaper while Holmes plays the violin.


True
 □　False
 □


d
 Watson decides that John McFarlane is an evil murderer.


True
 □　False
 □


e
 Holmes tells Watson that Oldacre once asked McFarlane's mother to marry him.


True
 □　False
 □


f
 Holmes shows Watson his plan of Deep Dene House.


True
 □　False
 □


g
 Holmes tells Watson that the deeds to the house were in the builder's safe.


True
 □　False
 □


h
 Watson agrees that McFarlane has evil eyes.


True
 □　False
 □


i
 Holmes wants to know who Mr Cornelius is.


True
 □　False
 □


j
 Holmes feels hopeful for John McFarlane.


True
 □　False
 □


k
 Holmes does not sleep until morning.


True
 □　False
 □
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WORD WORK

Complete the words to make sentences about the story.

All of the words come from Chapter Five.


a
 Watson angrily starts to read a book when Holmes 
p

 i 
c
 k
 s
 　u

 p his _ i _ _ i _.


b
 McFarlane has an obvious _ e_ _ o _ for killing Oldacre – his money.


c
 Holmes saw the name 'Mr Cornelius' in Oldacre's _ _ _ q _ _ b _ _ k.


d
 Watson doesn't say 'yes' but he _ o _ _ at what Holmes says.


e
 The bloodstains on the wall weren't old. They were _ _e_ _.


f
 Holmes doesn't want to _ i _ _ u _ hope that McFarlane is innocent.


g
 Watson thinks Mrs Lexington is _ a _.

GUESS WHAT

What happens in the next chapter? Tick the boxes.


1
 Watson...


a
 □ wakes up very late the next day.


b
 □ finds Holmes asleep in his chair.


c
 □ has breakfast with Inspector Lestrade.


2
 Holmes...


a
 □ decides that McFarlane is not innocent.


b
 □ goes to Norwood to meet Lestrade.


c
 □ goes back to Blackheath to see Mrs McFarlane.


3
 Lestrade...


a
 □ tells Holmes why he is sure that McFarlane murdered Oldacre.


b
 □ tells McFarlane that he is a murderer.


c
 □ visits John McFarlane's mother and father.



Chapter Six
 　A thumbprint on the wall

第六章　墙上的拇指印


Watson was surprised to find his friend fast asleep when he came down to breakfast the next morning. He shook him gently
 .

'Wake up,' he said. 'Mrs Hudson will be here soon.'

Holmes woke up immediately. 'Good morning, Watson,' he replied. He saw the questions in the doctor's eyes before he could ask them. 'Yes, I have been here all night. Yes, I have slept very little. And no, I do not know how we can save our young friend, John McFarlane.'

'Oh,' said Watson, 'then perhaps you should wash and change before breakfast.'

'You're right, Watson,' Holmes agreed. He left the room, and Watson sat down at the table. Soon after Mrs Hudson came in with the morning newspaper and a telegram
 .

'Good morning, Dr Watson,' she said. 'Here's your newspaper, and this telegram has just arrived for Mr Holmes. It looks very important.'

Watson took the telegram and looked at it thoughtfully.

'I'm sure it is very important,' he agreed. 'Perhaps it's about Mr McFarlane.'

'The young man who came here yesterday morning?'

'That's right,' said Watson. 'Inspector Lestrade is convinced that he's a murderer, but Holmes and I don't agree.'

'A murderer?' the housekeeper replied. 'Well, he was a strange young man – so wild and excited. But a murderer? I don't think so.'

'Mrs Hudson, your opinion
 is good enough for me,' said Watson. 'Now is that my breakfast that I can smell?'

The housekeeper smiled. 'You're always ready for your breakfast, Dr Watson,' she said. 'It'll be about ten minutes.'

As Mrs Hudson left the room, Holmes returned. He immediately saw the telegram in Watson's hand.

'That looks interesting,' he said. 'For me?'

Watson nodded and gave him the telegram. Holmes opened it with a paper knife and read it silently. He said nothing but looked out of the window onto Baker Street.

'Well?' asked Watson when he could wait no longer.

Holmes turned to look at his friend. 'It's from Lestrade. The Inspector is at Deep Dene House at the moment. He says he has proof
 that McFarlane is the murderer of Jonas Oldacre. In his opinion, we should now give up.'

'This doesn't look good, Holmes,' said Watson.

To his surprise, Holmes laughed.

'Inspector Lestrade has always been sure that John McFarlane killed the builder,' he said, 'and now he says that he has proof. Well, let's see his proof. This is not the time to give up, Watson. We'll go to Norwood immediately.'

'But Holmes,' said Watson, 'it's still very early and –'

Just then Mrs Hudson arrived with their breakfasts.

'And you haven't had your breakfast,' Holmes went on with a smile. 'All right, Watson, we'll go after breakfast. I'm sure that Inspector Lestrade's proof can wait.'

Holmes ate nothing himself, so Watson enjoyed a very large meal and it was after nine o'clock when they left Baker Street. They took a cab
 to the station and it was not long before they were at the front door of Deep Dene House. Watson rang the doorbell
 .

'Now, Watson,' said Holmes, 'you will meet the silent Mrs Lexington.'

A moment later the door opened and the housekeeper stood in front of them.

'Mr Holmes,' she said. 'How can I help you?'

'Good morning to you, Mrs Lexington,' said Holmes. 'This is my good friend, Dr Watson. Is Inspector Lestrade here?'

'He is,' the housekeeper replied.

'Please take us to him.'

Holmes and Watson went in and followed Mrs Lexington to the back of the house. Lestrade was sitting at a table. He looked very pleased to see them.

'Mr Holmes, Dr Watson! Good morning!' he said, standing up. 'You've come to see my proof, I suppose.'

'That's right,' Holmes agreed with a smile. 'I am very happy for you, Lestrade, that you were right all the time.'

'It's good of you to agree that you were wrong,' said the Inspector. 'As for me, I never thought that McFarlane was innocent. The man is a murderer.'

'I'm sure that you are right, Inspector,' Holmes agreed, 'but perhaps we can see your proof now.'

'Of course,' said Lestrade. 'Come with me.'

He stood up and Holmes and Watson followed him into the hall.

'Here,' said the Inspector. 'Look at this.'

Holmes and Watson crouched down to look at a bloodstain on the wall.

'It's a thumbprint
 ,' Lestrade explained. 'John McFarlane's thumbprint.'

'Are you sure?' asked Watson.

'Oh yes,' Lestrade replied. 'That is John McFarlane's thumbprint. I'm sorry, Dr Watson, but your young friend killed Jonas Oldacre. He will die for this crime.'
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Holmes looked very thoughtful.

'You're very quiet, Mr Holmes,' said the Inspector. 'Do you have nothing to say?'

Holmes stood up. 'As I said before, Inspector, it's obvious that you are right about McFarlane. He killed the builder for his money and his house. I have only two questions.'

'Go on,' said Lestrade, who was no longer smiling.

'First,' said Holmes, 'who found this thumbprint?'

'It was Mrs Lexington, the housekeeper, who saw it first,' the Inspector replied. 'She showed it to Sergeant Judd.'

'Really?' Holmes looked very pleased with this answer.

'What's your second question, Mr Holmes?' asked Lestrade.

'Why didn't your men find the thumbprint yesterday? '

'That's easy to explain,' the Inspector replied. 'They weren't looking for thumbprints yesterday, not in the hall. And the thumbprint is a little hard to see.'

'Yes, it's hard to see,' Holmes agreed. 'Watson and I had to crouch down to see it. But Mrs Lexington saw it. Perhaps she was washing the floor. I suppose that you are sure that the thumbprint was here yesterday, Inspector?'

'Of course it was!' Lestrade replied crossly. 'Do you think that McFarlane left Scotland Yard during the night and came here to make a thumbprint in blood on the wall?'

'Perhaps not,' said Holmes thoughtfully.

'Then I must ask you both to excuse me. I must return to Scotland Yard to talk to the murderer.'

Lestrade left the room.

'So John McFarlane is a murderer,' said Watson sadly.

'I don't think so, Watson,' Holmes replied.

'What? But Lestrade's proof – the thumbprint! How do you explain it, Holmes?'

'It's impossible to explain,' said Holmes, 'and for a very good reason. There was no thumbprint on this wall when I was here yesterday.'




gently
 adv.
 softly 轻轻地



telegram
 n.
 a very short letter that you send very quickly 电报



opinion
 n.
 what you think about someone or something 看法



proof
 n.
 information that shows that something is really true 证据



cab
 n.
 a carriage pulled by horses that was used like a taxi in the past 出租马车



doorbell
 n.
 the bell on the front door 门铃



thumbprint
 n.
 the mark that your thumb makes when it touches something 拇指印






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Correct eleven more mistakes in the story.

Watson is surprised to find Holmes awake
 (asleep)
 when he comes down to breakfast the next morning. Holmes has slept very little. Mrs Hudson arrives with the newspaper and a letter for Holmes. When Holmes is out of the room, Mrs Hudson and Watson talk about Jonas Oldacre. Inspector Lestrade has written from Blackheath to say he is now sure that McFarlane killed the builder and wants Holmes and Watson to go on with their investigation.





Holmes and Watson take a cab to Norwood. Sergeant Judd opens the door of Deep Dene House. Lestrade shows Holmes McFarlane's fingerprint on the floor. Sergeant Judd found it earlier that day and showed it to Lestrade. Holmes is convinced by Lestrade's proof.
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WORD WORK

Match the words in the violin with the underlined words in the sentences below.
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a
 Watson shook Holmes in a quiet kind way
 to wake him. 
　gently　




b
 Lestrade sent a fast letter by electric wires
 to Holmes. _____________


c
 Lestrade's way of thinking
 is that McFarlane is Oldacre's murderer. _____________


d
 Listen. It's the bell on the door
 ! I'll go and see who it is. _____________


e
 Lestrade says that McFarlane killed the builder, and that he has now got something that shows his idea is true
 . _____________


f
 Watson and Holmes take a taxi with horses pulling
 it to the station. _____________


g
 This glass is dirty; there's a mark from someone's thumb
 on it. _____________

GUESS WHAT

What happens in the next chapter? Tick six boxes.
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a
 □ John McFarlane goes back to Deep Dene House.


b
 □ Holmes understands why the thumbprint is important.


c
 □ Watson decides that McFarlane is a murderer.


d
 □ Holmes and Watson go into the garden to look at Oldacre's house.


e
 □ Inspector Lestrade writes about the murder.


f
 □ Holmes asks Watson to start a fire in the house.


g
 □ The police find a woman in a secret room.


h
 □ Holmes finds Jonas Oldacre's murderer.


i
 □ Lestrade agrees that Holmes is right about John McFarlane.


j
 □ The police decide to arrest Mrs Lexington.



Chapter Seven
 　The man on the top floor

第七章　顶楼上的人


Watson did not know what to think.

'I don't understand this, Holmes,' he said at last. 'I don't understand this at all. If the thumbprint wasn't here yesterday –'

Holmes held up a hand to stop him.

'There are two possibilities, Watson. The first is that John McFarlane left his cell
 at Scotland Yard during the night, took the train to Norwood and came to Deep Dene Lodge to make a bloody thumbprint on the wall here. I do not think this is very probable
 , Watson, do you?'

'Of course not, Holmes,' said Watson.

'Then you and I and Inspector Lestrade have the same opinion, and it was not John McFarlane who left this thumbprint.'

'But Lestrade said that it was McFarlane's thumbprint!' said Watson excitedly.

'Oh I am sure that it is McFarlane's thumbprint,' Holmes replied, 'but I am also sure that it was not John McFarlane who left it here. Come, Watson.'

Dr Watson followed his friend out into the garden.

'What are we doing, Holmes?' he asked.

'We're looking,' said Holmes, 'we're looking very carefully.'

Holmes stood in the garden and looked thoughtfully at the front of the house. Then he walked across the lawn and looked at the side of the house. Next Watson followed him to the back of the house and then to the other side, which looked onto the Sydenham Road. Here Holmes stood for a long time with a look of great interest on his face.

'Good,' he said at last, and walked quickly back to the front door, which was still open. Watson followed him inside and downstairs into the basement
 . Holmes looked very carefully in every room on that floor, then did the same on the ground floor. There was no furniture
 in many of the rooms, but Holmes looked thoughtfully at the walls and at the floor. He and Watson then went upstairs and visited all the bedrooms and the bathroom. After that they climbed to the top floor of the house, where there were three bedrooms, all empty. Holmes began to laugh. He laughed and laughed. Watson looked at his friend, astonished.

'Holmes, what is it?' he asked. 'Are you not feeling well?'

Holmes stopped laughing at once and turned to Watson.

'I'm feeling very well, Watson,' he said with a strange smile. 'Come, let us find Inspector Lestrade.'

They went downstairs and found the Inspector at his table. He was busy writing his report
 .

'Are you writing your report already, Inspector?' asked Holmes. 'Are you so sure that you have your murderer?'

Lestrade stopped writing and put down his pen. He did not look pleased.

'Mr Holmes, I have shown you my proof. John McFarlane's thumbprint proves
 that he killed Jonas Oldacre. I have my murderer. He is in his cell at Scotland Yard as we speak.'

'I think, Inspector,' said Holmes, 'that you should speak to one more person before you finish writing your report.'

'Who is this person?' asked Lestrade. 'And where can I find him?'

'How many policemen do you have here today, Inspector?'

Lestrade was surprised, but he answered immediately.

'Sergeant Judd and two others.'

'And are they all big, strong men with loud voices?'

Lestrade looked at Watson. Watson looked at Lestrade. They were both baffled
 .

'They are all tall and I'm sure that they can shout very loudly if they need to,' the Inspector replied, 'but I don't understand –'

Holmes held up a hand.

'You will understand, Inspector. Now could you please call your men?'

It was obvious that Lestrade was not happy, but he left the room and went to look for Sergeant Judd and the others. Five minutes later Holmes and Watson found Lestrade in the hall with his men.

'Sergeant Judd, you will find some hay in the timber yard. Could you please bring it into the house?' asked Holmes.

Judd looked at Lestrade, who nodded. He came back a few minutes later with a bag of hay.

'This will help us to find our man,' said Holmes. 'Now, Watson, do you have any matches
 in your pocket?'

Watson nodded.

'Then we are ready. Follow me, please.'

The policemen followed Holmes and Watson as they climbed the stairs to the top of the house. When they arrived, Lestrade's face was very red.

'What are you doing, Mr Holmes?' he asked crossly. 'I hope that this is not a joke
 .'

'You will not have to wait much longer, Inspector,' said Holmes with a smile. 'Could you please ask one of your men to bring some water from the bathroom?'

'Water!' Lestrade replied. 'Mr Holmes, I really must...'

'Please, Inspector.'

Lestrade thought for a long moment, but in the end sent one of his men to the bathroom for water. When he returned, Holmes opened a window and then asked Watson to light the hay with a match. The hay caught fire immediately and suddenly there was smoke everywhere.

'Now we will find our man, Lestrade,' said Holmes. 'Could we all please shout "fire"? One, two, three...'

Holmes, Watson and the four policemen all shouted 'Fire!' in loud voices.

'Again!' said Holmes.

'Fire!'

'And again!'

'Fire!' This time the shout was so loud that Lestrade put his fingers in his ears. Just then a very strange thing happened: a secret door in the wall opened suddenly and a little man ran out.

'Here's your man, Inspector,' said Holmes with a laugh. 'Sergeant Judd, please put some water on the hay to put out our little fire. Thank you. Inspector, this is Mr Jonas Oldacre, the Norwood builder. I think we will learn that he also has another name – Mr Cornelius.'
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Watson and the policemen looked long and hard at the little man, who was standing in front of them and shaking. He had grey eyes and white hair and was very ugly
 .

'Well,' said Lestrade at last when the fire was out. 'Do you have nothing to say, Mr Jonas Oldacre? '

Lestrade's face was red and angry. Oldacre looked very afraid, but he laughed excitedly.

'It was a joke, Inspector,' he explained. 'No more. I never wanted to make any trouble for anybody.'

'What?' said Lestrade angrily. 'You didn't want to make any trouble? And an innocent man is in the cells at Scotland Yard as we speak!'

'Just my little joke, Inspector,' the builder said again.

'Take him away, Sergeant,' said Lestrade. 'The man is dangerous.'

Oldacre went downstairs with Judd and the other policemen. Lestrade turned to Holmes.

'Well, Mr Holmes, once again I have to thank you. This time I was wrong and you were right. John McFarlane is an innocent man. It's obvious that there was no murder here.'

'That's right, Inspector,' Holmes smiled, 'but I understand your mistake. Jonas Oldacre was very clever.'

'But Sherlock Holmes was cleverer!' said Watson. 'Very good work, Holmes.'

'Thank you, Watson. Now let's see the secret room.'

Watson and Lestrade followed Holmes into the room, which was about two metres long. It was impossible to see the door from the passage
 , but in the room they found some furniture, food and water, newspapers and books. Holmes picked up a newspaper.

'This morning's newspaper,' he said. 'I'm sure that Oldacre has enjoyed reading about Mr McFarlane's arrest. And I suppose that Mrs Lexington is the person who has brought him his newspapers and his food and drink.'

'I must speak to that woman again,' said Lestrade. 'I always thought she had her secrets.'

'Perhaps she has a very big secret,' said Holmes. 'Perhaps she is more to Mr Oldacre than a housekeeper.'

Lestrade looked thoughtful. 'Of course,' he said at last. 'That's why she was happy to tell lies
 for him. She will go to prison
 for this, Mr Holmes.'

'Very good,' Holmes replied. 'Norwood will be a better place without her.'

'I have just one more question for you, Mr Holmes,' said Lestrade. 'Why did Oldacre do this? Why did he want me to arrest John McFarlane?'

Holmes gave the Inspector a long look.

'Many years ago, Inspector,' he explained, 'Jonas Oldacre fell in love. He fell in love with John McFarlane's mother. They spent some time together, but Mrs McFarlane saw that Oldacre was cruel and dangerous and she sent him away. Later she married John's father. On the day that they married Oldacre sent her a photograph of herself with her face slashed. He was very angry and he never forgot it.'

'I see,' said Lestrade. 'So that's why you went to Blackheath.'

'I wanted to talk to John's parents,' Holmes explained. 'I couldn't understand why Oldacre wanted to leave everything to John in his will.'

'I've been very stupid,' said Lestrade sadly.

'Not at all,' said Watson kindly. 'But Sherlock Holmes has been very clever.'

Holmes himself said nothing.
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cell
 n.
 a small room in a prison or police station 小牢房



probable
 adj.
 almost certainly true 很可能的



basement
 n.
 downstairs from the ground floor of a house 地下室



furniture
 n.
 tables and chairs for example 家具



report
 n.
 what someone writes to explain something that has happened 报告



prove
 v.
 to show that something is certainly true 证明



baffled
 adj.
 when you don't understand something 困惑的



match
 n.
 you use this to light a fire 火柴



joke
 n.
 something that you do to make people laugh 玩笑



ugly
 adj.
 not beautiful 丑陋的



passage
 n.
 the space between rooms in a house 过道



tell lies
 to say things which are not true 说谎



prison
 n.
 a place where people must stay when they do something wrong 监狱






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

What do they say?
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a
 Holmes tells Watson: 
It was not John McFarlane who left this thumbprint.




b
 Watson asks Holmes: ______________________________


c
 Holmes asks Lestrade: ______________________________


d
 Lestrade tells Holmes: ______________________________


e
 Holmes tells Lestrade: ______________________________


f
 Holmes tells Sergeant Judd: ______________________________


g
 Holmes asks Watson and the policemen: ______________________________


h
 Lestrade asks Oldacre: ______________________________


i
 Oldacre tells Lestrade: ______________________________


j
 Lestrade says to Sergeant Judd: ______________________________

WORD WORK

1 Find words from Chapter Seven.


a
 BABLEROP 
probable




b
 TURINFURE __________


c
 FLEDFAB __________


d
 SHETMAC __________


e
 LELC __________


f
 MANSEBET __________


g
 ROTERP __________


h
 EVROP __________


i
 KEOJ __________


j
 SAPGESA __________

2 Complete the sentences with the words from Activity 1.


a
 Holmes did not think that it was 
probable

 that John McFarlane made the thumbprint.


b
 Lestrade thought that he could __________ that John McFarlane was a murderer.


c
 He was writing a __________ about the murder of Jonas Oldacre when Holmes stopped him.


d
 A __________ is a room under the ground at the bottom of a house.


e
 There was no __________ in many of the rooms in the house.


f
 Lestrade and Watson were __________ when Holmes asked about the policemen's voices. They couldn't understand why he was asking.


g
 Watson used __________ and dry hay to light a fire.


h
 Holmes knew there was a secret room behind one of the walls in the __________.


i
 It is not a __________ when a criminal sends an innocent man to prison for something he didn't do.


j
 Oldacre will spend some time in a __________.

GUESS WHAT

What happens in the next chapter? Match the first and second parts of these sentences.



	
a
 John McFarlane
	
1
 take a cab to Scotland Yard.



	
b
 Sherlock Holmes explains
	
2
 that Holmes has been very helpful.



	
c
 Holmes, Watson and McFarlane
	
3
 visits Holmes and Watson in Baker Street.



	
d
 Watson asks Holmes
	
4
 for saving the life of an innocent man.



	
e
 Inspector Lestrade agrees
	
5
 why they are going to see Inspector Lestrade.



	
f
 Lestrade thanks Holmes
	
6
 how he realized that Jonas Oldacre was not dead.






Chapter Eight
 　A free man

第八章　重获自由的人


Two days later, on a fine summer morning, Holmes and Watson were sitting once again in their Baker Street rooms. Watson was reading the newspaper excitedly.

'It's here, Holmes!' he cried. 'The story of our Norwood builder. Listen to this: Inspector Lestrade of Scotland Yard realized
 that Jonas Oldacre was still alive and found him on the top floor of his house, Deep Dene Lodge at Norwood, where he was hiding in a secret room.
 But Lestrade realized nothing at all, Holmes! This is terrible. If you –'

'It's not important, Watson,' said Holmes quietly. 'What is important is that Oldacre will go to prison and John McFarlane will not die for a crime that he didn't commit
 . Lestrade knows what really happened, after all.'

'I don't understand how you can be so calm
 about this,' said Watson crossly. 'It was you who realized that the builder wasn't dead, not Lestrade. Lestrade was convinced that John McFarlane was a murderer.'

Just then the door opened and Mrs Hudson came in.

'A young man to see you, Mr Holmes,' she said with a smile. John McFarlane walked into the room. He looked calm and very happy. Holmes and Watson stood up.

'Mr McFarlane,' said Holmes, 'I'm very pleased to see you.'

'Mr Holmes, Dr Watson, what can I say?' McFarlane replied. 'Thank you so much for everything. You have saved my life. The police were convinced that I killed Jonas Oldacre.'

Watson asked the young man to sit down, and Mrs Hudson left them. Holmes lit a cigarette from the box on the table.

'I was sure that I would die,' McFarlane went on. 'I was at Deep Dene House. I had a very good motive. And when the police found my thumbprint on the wall... Please tell me, Mr Holmes, how you proved to Inspector Lestrade that I was innocent of this crime.'

Holmes did not speak for a long moment. He looked very thoughtful.

'It was a long time before I realized that there was no murder, but when I realized this, I understood everything. Oldacre once loved your mother and was very angry when she married another man. He had a lot of trouble with his business last year and lost a lot of money. His plan was to disappear
 , with Mrs Lexington perhaps, and start a new life with a different name: Mr Cornelius. He wanted everyone to think that he was dead because he didn't want anyone to look for him. And he wanted to hurt your mother and father. He wanted you to die for a crime that never happened.'

'But the burnt remains in the timber yard – what were they?' McFarlane wanted to know.

'A dead dog, I think,' Holmes replied. 'Not a dead builder.'

'What an evil man!' cried McFarlane. 'My mother was right to say no when he asked her to marry him.'

'Oh yes,' Holmes agreed. 'Jonas Oldacre is a very bad man and I hope that he will go to prison for a very long time.'

'I don't know how to thank you, Mr Holmes,' said McFarlane. 'I am so pleased that I came to you in my trouble.'

Holmes put out his cigarette and turned to Watson.

'Are we free this morning, Watson? 'he asked.

'Yes,' his friend replied in surprise. 'Why do you ask?'

'It's a beautiful morning,' said Holmes. 'Let's go out.'

Watson and McFarlane followed Holmes down the stairs and out into Baker Street. The sun was shining and the streets of London were warm.

'A beautiful morning,' Holmes said once again. 'Watson, please find us a cab.'

Ten minutes later the three men were in a cab and travelling south towards Scotland Yard.

'Why are we going to Scotland Yard, Holmes?' asked Watson.

'I'm sure that our good friend, inspector Lestrade, has something to say to Mr McFarlane,' Holmes replied.

At Scotland Yard they found Lestrade in his office. He looked surprised to see them.

'I was just finishing my report,' he explained.

'I thought that you might have something to say to Mr McFarlane, Inspector,' said Holmes as the young man followed the detective and Dr Watson into Lestrade's office.

'Oh, of course,' Lestrade agreed. He didn't look very happy. 'Mr McFarlane, I am very sorry that I thought that you were a murderer. I was wrong, of course, and Mr Holmes was right. I hope that the time you spent here at Scotland Yard wasn't too unpleasant
 .'

'It wasn't the happiest time of my life,' McFarlane replied,' but the important thing is that I am now a free man – thanks to
 Mr Sherlock Holmes.'

'Yes, Mr Holmes has been very helpful, once again,' said Lestrade. 'We work very well together, Mr Holmes and I.'

Holmes smiled. Watson looked angry, but said nothing.

'Mr Holmes, as you're here,' the Inspector went on, 'and I'm writing my report, I have one more question for you. Why was Mr McFarlane's thumbprint on the wall?'

'Oldacre put it there,' Holmes explained. 'When he and Mr McFarlane were working on his papers he asked Mr McFarlane to seal
 a letter with wax.
 He then had John's thumbprint in the wax and he put this on the wall with some of his own blood.'

'Very clever,' said Lestrade.

'Yes,' Holmes agreed. 'His only problem was that I knew that the thumbprint wasn't there the day before. As Mr McFarlane was in a cell here at Scotland Yard, he didn't put it there, so I asked myself who did. The answer to the mystery was obvious. Oldacre, of course. And how is the Norwood builder?'

'He's not a happy man,' said Lestrade, smiling at last. 'It was all a joke, he says. And of course he didn't want to hurt Mr McFarlane here.'

'A strange joke!' said Dr Watson.

'Yes,' Holmes agreed, 'it's a very strange joke that sends a man to his death!'

'I have to thank you, Mr Holmes,' said Lestrade, 'for saving the life of an innocent man.'

Holmes smiled.

'That is my business, Inspector: to save innocent people and make sure that those who are guilty
 go to prison. As long as I can do that, I will be a happy man.'
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realize
 v.
 to suddenly understand something 意识到



commit
 v.
 to do a crime 犯（罪）



calm
 adj.
 not worried 镇定的



disappear
 v.
 to go away suddenly 消失



unpleasant
 adj.
 not nice 令人不快的



thanks to
 because of 多亏，幸亏



seal
 v.
 to close by sticking two parts together 封住



wax
 n.
 candles are made of wax 蜡



guilty
 adj.
 having done something wrong 有罪的






ACTIVITIES

READING CHECK

Tick the correct pictures.


a
 ... sees the story of the Norwood builder in the newspaper.

□ Sherlock Holmes
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□ Doctor Watson
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b
 Mrs Hudson opens the door to...

□ Inspector Lestrade
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□ John McFarlane
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c
 Holmes explains that Mr Cornelius is...

□ Jonas Oldacre

[image: alt]


□ John McFarlane's father
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d
 The builder planned to disappear with...

□ Mrs McFarlane
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□ Mrs Lexington
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e
 At Scotland Yard Holmes, Watson and McFarlane find...

□ Lestrade in his office
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□ Judd in his office
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f
 Holmes explains that... put the bloody thumbprint on the wall.

□ Jonas Oldacre
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□ Mrs Lexington
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WORD WORK

Use the words in the prison cell to complete John Mcfarlane's diary.



25 August 1894


I leave Scotland Yard today a (1) 
calm

 man. I will not go to prison for a murder that I didn't (2) __________, and all (3) __________ Mr Sherlock Holmes. He cleverly (4) __________ that Oldacre was an (5) __________ man who hated me and my parents. He understood that Oldacre wanted to (6) __________ after his 'death' as Mr Cornelius, and that he used the thumbprint I made in the (7) __________ when I (8) __________ his will to put a bloody thumbprint on the wall. Now Mr Holmes has convinced Inspector Lestrade that I am not (9) __________. I can go home, a free man!
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GUESS WHAT

What happens after the story ends? Choose from these ideas or add your own.


a
 □ Sherlock Holme investigates another crime.


b
 □ Jonas Oldacre and Mrs Lexington go to prison.


c
 □ John McFarlane sells his story to the newspapers.


d
 □ Inspector Lestrade writes a report explaining how he always knew McFarlane was really innocent.


e
 □ McFarlane's parents invite Holmes and Watson to dinner.


f
 □ Doctor Watson realizes that Lestrade is not a bad policeman.


PROJECT

PROJECT　拓展训练


A Visitors' Guide


1 Look at the map and make sentences about the places in The Norwood Mystery.
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a
 
Sherlock Holmes and Doctor Watson live and work in

 Baker Street.


b
 ______________________________ London Bridge Station.


c
 ______________________________ the City.


d
 ______________________________ Blackheath.


e
 ______________________________ Norwood.


f
 ______________________________ Scotland Yard.

2 Complete the text with the words below.



If you visit London in 1895...


Never talk to men (1) ___________ show you the way, try to sell you cigarettes or (2) ___________ a drink. If you don't (3) ___________ go into a shop and ask, or find a policeman.

Walk past anyone (4) ___________ for money and don't walk along quiet streets after dark. Don't (5) ___________ where poor people live.

Don't carry (6) ___________ with you. Be very careful with your money when you go to the theatre (7)___________, when you are on the bus, and when you are in the street.


Enjoy your visit!





a
 a lot of money


b
 who want to


c
 or to church


d
 know the way


e
 invite you for


f
 who asks you


g
 go to places

3 Now write about your village, town or city. Start like this:

If you visit ___________ in ___________ ...

Never ___________


An Author's Biography


4 Read about Arthur Conan Doyle's life.

Arthur Conan Doyle was born in Edinburgh in 1859. At school he was not a good student, but he read a lot of books. When he was sixteen, he went to study in Austria for a year.





Arthur was strong and good at sport. When he left school, he went to Edinburgh University to study to be a doctor. His favourite teacher was a man called Joseph Bell, who showed him how to use his eyes like a good detective.





While he was a student, Conan Doyle was very poor, so he wrote stories to make money. He left the University in 1881 and worked as a doctor on a ship.





Conan Doyle was a good doctor, but he did not make much money. He started to write stories again. He remembered his lessons with Joseph Bell in Edinburgh and wrote a detective story, A Study in Scarlet
 . Sherlock Holmes was born! Conan Doyle went on to write fifty-nine more stories about his detective.





5 Correct the factual mistakes in the notes below.



Sir Arthur Conan Doyle


· born 1869, good student, read a lot

· studied in Austria for 16 years

· good at sport

· studied to be doctor at Oxford University

· favourite teacher Alexander Graham Bell

· as student started writing stories because needed money

· worked as doctor in hospital

· good doctor, made lots of money

· first Sherlock Holmes story was A Study in Scarlet


· wrote 59 Sherlock Holmes stories in all



6 Read the biographical notes about another detective story writer – Alexander McCall Smith. Write a biography about him based on Conan Doyle's biography.



Alexander McCall Smith


· born Zimbabwe (then Rhodesia) in 1948

· educated in Zimbabwe and Scotland

· lived in Botswana (Africa) for some years

· worked as Professor of Law at Botswana University

· until 2004 worked as Professor of Medical Law at Edinburgh University, lives in Edinburgh with family and cat, Gordon

· wrote The No.1 Ladies' Detective Agency
 in 1996 published in 1998

· has written over 50 books in all

· married wife, a doctor, Elizabeth Parry in 1982

· has 2 daughters – Lucy and Emily

· in free time plays bassoon in amateur orchestra The Really Terrible Orchestra (his wife plays flute)

· writes for The Scotsman
 newspaper

· has written a book for children – The Perfect Hamburger


· is international expert on genetics



Alexander Smith was born _______________

He went to school and university _______________

He lived/worked _______________

He wrote/published _______________

He has written _______________

In his free time _______________

He is/has/lives/writes/plays _______________

7 Choose one of these detective story writers. Research their life on the Internet or in a library. Make notes, then use your notes to write a short biography.


Agatha Christie (born in Devon)

Detectives: Miss Marple (British) and Hercule Poirot (Belgian)








Barbara Nadel (born in the East End of London)

Detectives: Çetin I kmen and Mehmet Suleyman (Turkish)








Raymond Chandler (born in Chicago)

Detective: Philip Marlowe (American)








Lindsey Davis (born in Birmingham)

Detective: Marcus Didio Falco (Ancient Roman)




GRAMMAR

GRAMMAR CHECK　语法充电


现在完成时：疑问句

我们用have
 或has
 （第三人称单数形式）+过去分词的句式来构成现在完成时态的提问。


Where have
 you been
 ? I was worried.


你去哪儿了？我很担心。



Have
 you seen
 the fingerprint on the wall?


你看到墙上的那个指纹了吗？

在不给出确定时间的情况下，我们可以用现在完成时来谈论最近刚刚发生的行为。



1 A news reporter is talking to Inspector Lestrade. Write the reporter's questions using the present perfect.

Reporter: a) what / happen / here, Inspector?



What has happened here, Inspector?　



Lestrade: We think that there has been a murder.

Reporter: b) you / find / the body?

___________________________

Lestrade: Yes, we've found some remains in the timber yard.

Reporter: c) you / arrest / anyone yet?

___________________________

Lestrade: Yes, we have. We've arrested a man called John McFarlane.

Reporter: d) where / you / take / him?

___________________________

Lestrade: Scotland Yard. We're talking to him at the moment.

Reporter: e) what / he / tell / you about the crime?

___________________________

Lestrade: Nothing. He's told us a story, but it isn't true.

Reporter: f) Mr Holmes / visit / Deep Dene House?

___________________________

Lestrade: Yes, he has. He knows Mr McFarlane.

Reporter: g) he / help / you with the investigation?

___________________________

Lestrade: No, he hasn't. This is a police investigation.


现在完成时和一般过去时

我们用现在完成时来描述：

·在过去不明确的时间里发生的事件（如果这个时间离现在很近，可以加上just
 一词）。


Inspector Lestrade has arrested
 the criminal.


莱斯特雷德巡官已经逮捕了那名罪犯。

·生活中的种种经历（可以用never
 一词来表达“在任何时候都不，从来没有”的意思）


I've
 never done
 anything bad.


我从没做过坏事。

Holmes has investigated
 a lot of crimes.

福尔摩斯调查过很多起犯罪案件。

·始于过去且延续到现在的事件


I've been
 here all night.


我一整夜都在这儿。

我们用一般过去时来讲述已结束的事件。


I took
 the train to Norwood and arrived
 there at about nine o'clock.


我搭上了前往诺伍德的火车，在大约九点钟的时候到了那里。



2 Complete John McFarlane's note to his mother with the words and verbs in brackets. Use the present perfect or past simple.


Dear Mother

I a) 
've been

 (be) in this police cell for two days now. I b) _________ (think) a lot about the night when Oldacre c) _________ (die), but I don't understand anything. I d) _________ (go) to Deep Dene House on Tuesday night and Oldacre and I e)_________(talk) for about two hours, but I don't know what f)_________ (happen) later that night. All I know is that I g) _________ (never do) anything wrong in my life.

Lestrade is sure that I h) _________ (kill) Oldacre on that night, but that's not true. I i) _________ (meet) him twice in my life. What motive do I have to kill him? I know that Mr Holmes j) _________ (visit) you yesterday. He doesn't think that I'm guilty but he k) _________ (not find) any proof of who is the real murderer yet. l) I _________ (tell) the police everything that I know many times, but they think that I'm telling lies. And now Lestrade says that they m) _________ (just find) a bloody thumbprint in the house!

You know that I'm innocent, and that helps me a lot. Be strong, Mother.

Your loving son

John




反身代词

当一句话中的宾语跟主语是同一个人或事物时，就使用反身代词（myself, yourself, yourselves, himself, herself, itself, ourselves, themselves
 ）。



Holmes
 was asking himself
 a lot of questions.


福尔摩斯问了自己很多问题。

我们还可以用反身代词来强调是谁做的某事，或者强调这些事都是一个人独自做的，没有任何其他人的参与。



Holmes
 ate nothing himself.



福尔摩斯自己什么也没吃。



I
 found the fingerprints myself.



我是自己发现那些指纹的。



3 Complete the sentences with reflexive pronouns. Who do you think said each sentence? Write Holmes, Watson, Lestrade, McFarlane,
 or Mrs Lexington
 .


a
 Don't upset 
yourself

 , Mrs Lexington.



　Holmes　




b
 Mr Oldacre wrote the will _________. He asked me to copy it.

___________


c
 We must ask _________ this question, Watson. Why would McFarlane kill him?

___________


d
 Look at _________ in the mirror, Holmes. You look terrible. You slept in that chair last night, didn't you?

___________


e
 I tried to fight the fire _________, but it was burning so quickly.

___________


f
 As you can see for_________ gentlemen, this is a thumbprint. John McFarlane's thumbprint, in fact.

___________


g
 Mrs Lexington spoke to McFarlane _________ on Tuesday night. She told me that he has evil eyes.

___________


h
 It was too late to go home, so I found _________ a room in a hotel.

___________


i
 Aren't you eating any breakfast _________, Holmes?

___________


j
 The thumbprint wasn't there yesterday. I checked the wall _________.

___________


k
 The police have convinced _________ that I'm the murderer.

___________


l
 Do you think that McFarlane put the thumbprint on the wall _________, Watson?

___________


形容词+动词不定式

我们用be
 +形容词+带to
 的不定式来表达对自己或他人所做某事的感受。


I'm sorry to hear
 this, Mr McFarlane.


听到这事我感到很遗憾，麦克法兰先生。

有时，该形容词修饰的是跟在它后面的不定式，而不是整句话的主语。



Is
 it important to know
 why Oldacre wrote his will on a train?


了解奥尔达克在火车上写遗嘱的原因会很重要吗？



4 Complete the interview between Lestrade and McFarlane with the words from the box.
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Scotland Yard, 23rd August 1894


Investigation:


The murder of Mr Jonas Oldacre, 64, of Deep Dene House, Sydenham Road, Norwood


Arrested:


Mr John McFarlane, 27, of Torrington Lodge, Blackheath






Lestrade:


How well did you know Jonas Oldacre?


McFarlane:


I only met him for the first time two days ago. I knew his name, but I was very a) 
surprised to get

 a visit from him on Tuesday in my office.


Lestrade:


What did you talk about?


McFarlane:


Oldacre said he was b) ___________ me. He told me that he wanted me to copy a will, and I said that I was c) ___________ it for him. But when I started to copy the will, I was d) ___________ that he wanted to leave everything to me! Oldacre laughed, and then said it was e) ___________ the surprise on my face.


Lestrade:


Why do you think that Oldacre wanted to leave you his money?


McFarlane:


Well, it isn't very f) ___________ that. He said that he didn't have any children and that he liked my parents, so he was g) ___________ the money to me.


Lestrade:


Were you h) ___________ of his death?


McFarlane:


Of course I was – and frightened, too. You think that I killed him.


Lestrade:


Well, perhaps you did. I'm i) ___________ that we've found your thumbprint in Mr Oldacre's blood. How can you explain that?


McFarlane:


I can't. That's j) ___________, but I didn't murder him!




时间介词：at, on, in

我们用at
 与时间和节假日连用，如at Christmas
 。还可以说at the weekend
 , at night
 和at midnight
 。


He walked into my office at three o'clock
 yesterday afternoon.


他昨天下午三点钟走进了我的办公室。

我们用on
 与表示星期几或日期的词语连用。也可和包含日期的短语连用，如Monday morning
 或Mother's Day
 。


The photograph arrived on the day
 that she married John McFarlane's father.


那张照片是在她嫁给约翰·麦克法兰的父亲那天寄到的。

我们用in
 与星期、月份、季节、年和世纪连用。还可以说in the morning
 , in the afternoon
 和in the evening
 。


One morning in the summer of
 1894.


1894年夏日里的一个早上。



5 Complete the sentences with at
 , on
 , or in
 . Then put the sentences in order 1–10.


a
 Mrs Lexington went to bed 
　at　

 ten thirty and didn't see McFarlane leave.

□


b
 Oldacre put a bloody thumbprint on the wall ________ Wednesday night.

□


c
 The police arrested McFarlane at Sherlock Holmes' house ________ about 10 a.m. on Wednesday.

□


d
 Early ________ Wednesday morning, McFarlane took a train into London after a night in a Norwood hotel.

□


e
 Oldacre asked McFarlane to visit him in Norwood ________ the evening.

□


f
 The crime happened ________ August, 1894.


1



g
 The police found the thumbprint ________ Thursday morning.

□


h
 When Sherlock Holmes visited Norwood ________ the afternoon on Wednesday, there was no fingerprint on the wall.

□


i
 McFarlane arrived at Norwood ________ about nine o'clock.

□


j
 Oldacre visited McFarlane ________ the day of the crime, a Tuesday.

□
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以-ing和-ed结尾的形容词

我们用以-ed
 结尾的形容词来谈论人们的感受。


I'm interested
 to hear Mr McFarlane's story.


我很有兴趣听听麦克法兰先生的故事。

我们用以-ing
 结尾的形容词来谈论那些令人们有不同感受的事物、事件和人。


But for me, Watson, life is not so interesting
 .


但对我而言，华生，生活就不那么有意思了。



6 Choose the correct words to complete the sentences.


a
 Sherlock Holmes was feeling 
boring
 / bored
 because there weren't any crimes to investigate.


b
 He wanted to investigate an exciting / excited
 murder.


c
 John McFarlane was very surprised / surprising
 when he read about the murder in the newspaper.


d
 McFarlane was very frightening / frightened
 when he arrived at Holmes' house because the police were following him.


e
 Mrs Hudson was annoyed / annoying
 when McFarlane pushed her out of his way.


f
 Mr Oldacre's will was very surprised / surprising
 because in it he left all his money to John McFarlane.


g
 Holmes was very interested / interesting
 in the will. He wanted to know why Oldacre wrote it on a train.


h
 Oldacre was a dangerous man. Mrs McFarlane thought that he was very frightened / frightening
 .


i
 Lestrade doesn't like answering lots of annoyed / annoying
 questions from Sherlock Holmes when he's investigating a murder.


j
 Holmes was very excited / exciting
 when he found the bloody thumbprint.


k
 The thumbprint was an interested
 / interesting
 problem for Holmes to think about.


l
 For Watson, living with a man like Holmes is never boring / bored
 .
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以-y结尾的形容词和以-ly结尾的副词

我们用形容词来描述人或事物。形容词用于名词前面，或是跟在be, seem, look
 等动词后面。一些形容词是以-y
 结尾的。


Please don't be angry,
 Mr Holmes.


福尔摩斯先生，请不要生气。

我们常用副词来描述事情是如何发生的。大多数这类副词以-ly
 结尾。


Holmes walked slowly
 to the front door.


福尔摩斯慢悠悠地走向前门。

一些形容词，如brotherly
 （兄弟般的），fatherly
 （父亲般的），friendly
 （友好的）和motherly
 （慈母般的）也是以-ly
 结尾的。



7 Complete the sentences with the correct adjectives and adverbs from the box. Write adjective
 or adverb
 after the word.
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a
 Watson went to bed 
　early (adverb)　

 , but Holmes didn't want to sleep. He was playing the violin and thinking 
deeply (adverb)

 about the investigation.


b
 Holmes was looking at the letter very ___________. 'I'm not sure what happened here,' he said ___________, 'but I will find the answer.'


c
 I thanked Mr Oldacre ___________ for leaving me the money in his will. I thought that he was a very ___________ person.


d
 The wood was very ___________ after the warm weather, and it burned very___________.


e
 Oldacre was very ___________ when John's mother married another man.


f
 It was a beautiful, ___________ afternoon, but Holmes wasn't feeling___________.


g
 Watson was reading the ___________ newspaper when Holmes came in. He was smiling ___________. 'I've found the answer in today's Times
 !' he said.


h
 'Aren't you ___________, Holmes? You haven't eaten anything.'


i
 It was Friday. Lestrade was writing his ___________ report when Sergeant Judd knocked on his door. 'Come back later!' he said, ___________. 'Can't you see that I'm ___________?'


TRANSLATION 译文


第一章


狂乱激动的年轻人

“伦敦的生活不同以往了。”夏洛克·福尔摩斯对华生医生说。这是1894年一个夏日的早上，他们坐在贝克街寓所的早餐桌旁。福尔摩斯正抽着一支烟，华生则在读着报纸。

“真是这样，福尔摩斯，”医生说，“对多数人来说，现在的生活可好多了。”

“但对我而言，华生，生活就不那么有意思了。”福尔摩斯解释道，“我喜欢读报，希望能发现一些有趣的犯罪案件来让我调查，或是有个危险的罪犯等着我来抓。那些聪明的罪犯最近都跑到哪儿去了？”他苦笑着。

“有时候我还真不理解你，福尔摩斯。”华生说，“我本人喜欢过平静的生活”。

福尔摩斯没有回答，而是懒洋洋地翻开报纸，开始读了起来。突然他们听见楼下临街的大门传来了一阵很响的敲门声。他们听见敲门声反复响起。

管家赫德森太太跑去开门，一个狂乱激动的年轻人闯入门厅。他把可怜的管家推到一旁，跑上了楼。

“您是谁啊，先生？”华生问道。“您有什么事？”

年轻人望了望华生，又望了望福尔摩斯，开始了解释。

“对不起，福尔摩斯先生，对不起，”他说，“请别生气。我太害怕了，福尔摩斯先生。”

福尔摩斯让这个年轻人进了屋，并叫他坐下。

“来支烟吧，”他说，“然后告诉我们您是谁，为什么来这儿。”

那人从桌上的烟盒中拿出一支烟，华生为他点上。几分钟后，他不再发抖了，讲起话来。

“我叫约翰·麦克法兰。”他开始说。福尔摩斯和华生都不知道这个名字。

“然后呢？”福尔摩斯问道。

“然后，”麦克法兰回答说，他又开始发起抖来，“我陷入大麻烦了。您一定要帮我，福尔摩斯先生。警察想要逮捕我，把我送进监狱。而我什么也没干啊，福尔摩斯先生，什么都没干。”

“有意思，”福尔摩斯说，“非常有意思。你不觉得吗，华生？”

华生看出他的朋友被这起神秘事件弄得兴奋起来了，而且还想知道更多。

“麦克法兰先生，”福尔摩斯继续说道，“为什么警察想要逮捕您呢？你都干了什么？”

“什么也没干啊。我跟您说了，我什么也没干。可他们认为我谋杀了一个叫乔纳斯·奥尔达克的人，他是个建筑师，就住在——曾经住在——伦敦南部的诺伍德。”

福尔摩斯又点了一支烟。“听到这事我感到非常遗憾，麦克法兰先生。请给我们讲讲您的故事吧。”

麦克法兰看到了早餐桌上那张华生看的报纸，翻开了它。

“在这儿，”他说，“就在今天的报纸上。乔纳斯·奥尔达克被谋杀的报道。我来读给你们听听：《诺伍德的可怕罪行：知名建筑师被谋杀》。警方确信我就是杀死他的那个人。他们从火车站一直跟踪我来到了这儿，正等着逮捕我呢。这个消息会害死我那可怜的老母亲的，福尔摩斯先生，这会害死她的。”

麦克法兰一边发抖，一边抽着烟。华生饶有兴致地看着他。麦克法兰是个英俊的年轻人，有着一双明亮的蓝眼睛和长长的头发，不过，他看起来害怕极了。他约莫二十七岁，华生看得出他出身于不错的家庭。

“如果警方正跟踪您，”福尔摩斯说，“那我们就得加快行动了。麦克法兰先生，请再来一支烟吧。华生，你能给我们读读报纸上那篇报道吗？”

华生打开报纸读了起来。

夏洛克·福尔摩斯则闭起双眼，仔细地听着华生读早报上的这则报道。





知名建筑师被谋杀

昨天深夜，或是今日凌晨，在伦敦南部的诺伍德发生了一起可怕的凶案。乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生是一名建筑师，已经在诺伍德工作和生活了多年。他今年52岁，未婚，住在锡德纳姆路上的幽谷山庄。诺伍德的居民们都知道奥尔达克先生是个不同寻常的人。他很少离开家，而他从事的职业却令其非常富有。他的房子后面有一个小贮木场。昨晚，大概是午夜时分，一名正在外面散步的男子看见院子里的一些木头起了火。他马上给消防队打了电话，很快消防队就赶到了。木材都很干，快速地燃烧着，所以火不可能被扑灭。消防队员惊讶地发现奥尔达克先生并没有从房子里出来，于是其中的两名队员就进去找他。可奥尔达克先生不在屋子里。这两个人在卧室发现了一个打开的保险箱，里面是空的。地板上散落着一些文件，墙上还有斑斑血迹。他们还在房间里找到一根沾有血迹的手杖。这根手杖是约翰·麦克法兰先生的，他昨晚曾到奥尔达克先生家拜访过他。警方确信他们已知道了这起犯罪案件的动机，正在寻找麦克法兰先生，一旦找到就会逮捕他。目前诺伍德警方表示，奥尔达克先生宅邸一层的卧室窗户是打开的。他们还在烧过的贮木场里找到一些烧焦的残骸，可能是一具尸体残骸。警方认为这里曾发生过谋杀案。他们说罪犯在卧室里杀死了建筑师，然后把他的尸体拖进花园，又在贮木场里放火焚烧了它。苏格兰场的莱斯特雷德巡官负责调查这起极为可怕的案件。





“这很有趣啊。”他最后说，“我能否问一下，麦克法兰先生，警方为什么还没逮捕您呢？我从报纸上了解到，他们确信是您谋杀了奥尔达克先生。”

“我和父母住在布莱克希斯的托灵顿宅邸，福尔摩斯先生，但昨晚，我在处理完跟奥尔达克先生的事务后，便住在诺伍德的一家旅馆，然后今早从那儿出发去上班。我对这起犯罪一无所知，直到我在火车上读到报纸上的这篇报道。我马上意识到自己陷入大麻烦了，于是火车一到站，我就跑到贝克街来找您，福尔摩斯先生，来告诉您我不是罪犯。我没有谋杀乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生。我肯定警方正在我工作的地方和我父亲位于布莱克希斯的住处等着我呢。有个男人从火车站一直跟踪我到这儿，还——”

突然，从临街的大门又传来一阵敲门声。随后，他们听见有人上了楼，接着，莱斯特雷德巡官和两名警察走进了房间。

“你是约翰·麦克法兰先生吗？”他问。

年轻人站起身，脸色煞白。

“我是。”他说。

莱斯特雷德意味深长地看了他一眼。“约翰·麦克法兰，我要以谋杀伦敦南部诺伍德的建筑师乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生的罪名逮捕你。”






第二章


麦克法兰的故事

麦克法兰把头埋进双手，坐了下来。“福尔摩斯先生，帮帮我，求求您了。”

福尔摩斯转向莱斯特雷德。“巡官，”他说，“或许您能给我们半个小时？我很想听听麦克法兰先生的故事。”

“我确信那将是一个非常动听的故事。”莱斯特雷德答道，“但它不会是真的。”

“拜托了，巡官。”华生说。

莱斯特雷德想了好一会儿。“那好吧。”他最终同意了，“您以前总帮我们，福尔摩斯先生。不过我必须和麦克法兰先生呆在一起，而且我也会仔细听听他说的每件事。您有半小时的时间。”他看着自己的表继续说道。

“谢谢，巡官。”麦克法兰说。

“你还是感谢福尔摩斯先生吧。”莱斯特雷德答道，他坐在了年轻人的对面。

“首先，”麦克法兰开始讲述起他的故事，“除了他的名字，我对乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生一无所知。我父母是在多年前认识他的，而且他们做过很长时间的朋友。可奥尔达克先生搬到了诺伍德之后，据我所知，他们就再也没见过他了。所以，当他昨天下午三点钟走进我的办公室时，我感到非常意外。我在伦敦城工作，是一名律师。当他告诉我为什么想见我时，我惊呆了。”说到这儿，他停了下来，先是看了看福尔摩斯，然后又望向莱斯特雷德。

“继续吧。”莱斯特雷德最后说道。

“他手里拿着一些文件，就是这些。”麦克法兰把它们从自己的口袋里掏了出来，放在桌上。“‘这是我的遗嘱，’奥尔达克先生说，‘我亲手起草的。而你是个律师，请为我誊写一份吧。我等着。’我同意了。于是我开始誊写那份遗嘱，但当我读到他想把一切都留给我时，我震惊极了！奥尔达克先生是个奇怪的小个子男人，他满头白发，有着一双灰色的眼睛。当我望着他时，能看得出他对我的惊奇感到很好笑。他笑了，说自己一直未婚，也没有孩子。他年轻时就认识我的父母，他想帮我有所成就，因为我是他们的儿子。我当时不知该说什么好，但我衷心感谢了他，并把遗嘱誊写好了。这就是那份遗嘱。”麦克法兰给福尔摩斯看一张蓝色的纸。“之后，奥尔达克先生叫我昨晚去他在诺伍德的家，因为在那儿他还有更多的文件需要我看。我不想去，可我不得不去。‘你必须保证不告诉你父母这件事，’他说，‘这对他们来说一定会是个绝妙的惊喜。’我答应他什么都不说，可我不明白为什么对此事保密对他有那么重要。”

“我搭上了开往诺伍德的火车，大约在九点钟到的。要找到奥尔达克先生在锡德纳姆路上的家还挺费劲儿，九点半的时候我才终于敲响了幽谷山庄的大门。”

“停一下，”福尔摩斯说，“谁给你开的门？”

“是奥尔达克先生的管家，”麦克法兰答道，“一个约莫五十五岁的女人。”

“那是她告诉奥尔达克先生说你来了？”福尔摩斯继续问道。

“是的。”麦克法兰肯定地说，“然后她把我带进了餐厅，奥尔达克先生正在那儿等着我。我们简单地吃了些三明治和水果，然后奥尔达克先生就把我带到他的卧室。在房间的角落有个保险箱，奥尔达克先生打开了它，拿出许多文件。我们一起查看这些文件，直到大约十一点半才看完。奥尔达克先生说我们千万不能惊醒管家，所以我就从卧室里开着的落地窗离开了他家。我找不到自己的手杖，奥尔达克先生却说下次他会还给我。‘我希望你常回来。’他说。我离开的时候，奥尔达克先生在他的卧室里，保险箱还开着。他的文件都放在桌子上。已经太晚了，没法回我父亲在布莱克希斯的家了，于是我去了诺伍德一家名叫阿纳利阿姆斯的旅馆，在那儿过的夜。在今早读到报纸上的那篇报道前，我并不知道更多有关奥尔达克先生的事。我告诉你们的每件事都是真的。”

莱斯特雷德看着福尔摩斯：“还有问题吗？”

“可能会有，”福尔摩斯说，“但我得先去趟布莱克希斯。”

“你是说诺伍德吧。”莱斯特雷德说。

“或许是。”福尔摩斯答道，脸上露出一丝古怪的微笑。巡官不明白，但什么也没说。

“麦克法兰先生？”在门口等着的一名警察说道，“请跟我们走吧。”

麦克法兰站起来，两名警察把他带下楼，然后出门上了贝克街。莱斯特雷德则与福尔摩斯和华生一起留在了房间里。福尔摩斯看着麦克法兰留在桌上的文件。

“有意思啊，”他说，“奥尔达克先生的笔迹在有些地方很易辨认，可是在其他一些地方又难以辨认。还有这儿，根本无法读懂。你能辨读出这部分吗，华生？”

华生也认为那部分无法读懂。

“那为什么会这样呢？”福尔摩斯问道。

“我也不理解。”华生答道。

“这很重要吗，福尔摩斯先生？”莱斯特雷德问。

“或许，”福尔摩斯说，“奥尔达克先生是在火车上写下了他的遗嘱。我们可以读懂他在火车靠站时写下的所有内容，却辨读不出他在火车行进中写的部分。奥尔达克先生一路上都在写他的遗嘱，所以他乘坐的火车是列快车，只在诺伍德和伦敦桥之间停一次。”

“很有趣啊，福尔摩斯先生。”莱斯特雷德说，“但我还要处理一名杀人犯呢。我得走了。再见，福尔摩斯先生，华生医生。”

“再见，巡官。”福尔摩斯微笑着说。






第三章


探访布莱克希斯

“快告诉我，福尔摩斯，”华生在他俩又单独在一起的时候说，“为什么奥尔达克先生在火车上写下遗嘱这件事会这么重要呢？”

福尔摩斯点了一支烟。“因为这说明他是在昨天去见麦克法兰先生的路上写的。我觉得他在火车上处理这些重要的文件很蹊跷。或许它们对他来说没那么重要。”

“那你在想什么呢，福尔摩斯？”华生问。

“我还不确定这其中发生了什么，华生，”福尔摩斯答道，“但给我些时间，给我些时间。现在我必须离开，去趟布莱克希斯。我想，我需要去跟麦克法兰先生的父母谈谈。”

福尔摩斯穿上外套。“在我出门期间，华生，你要问自己这样一个问题：麦克法兰先生难道是个傻瓜吗？我认为不是。但一个聪明人会杀死刚刚在遗嘱中承诺把一切留给他的人吗？”福尔摩斯意味深长地看了华生一眼。“再见，华生。稍后见了。”

每当夏洛克·福尔摩斯需要思考时，他都喜欢走路。这天早晨，他决定从贝克街一直走到伦敦桥。他在穿过市区时，两条长腿迈得飞快。在他前往火车站的途中，很多人都停下来观看这位高个子侦探，而福尔摩斯却无暇顾及。他脑子里想的全都是约翰·麦克法兰和乔纳斯·奥尔达克，他不断地问自己麦克法兰是否是个杀人犯。他真的不这么认为，可他知道要说服苏格兰场的莱斯特雷德巡官会很困难。对莱斯特雷德来说，麦克法兰就是谋杀乔纳斯·奥尔达克的凶手。麦克法兰有充足的动机，而且当天晚上他还在那个建筑师的房子里。

福尔摩斯来到了伦敦桥火车站，发现还得等上二十分钟才能搭下一班火车前往布莱克希斯。他买了份最新的早报，看到《诺伍德谋杀案：凶手已被逮捕》。福尔摩斯并没读这篇报道，而是看了眼结尾：“莱斯特雷德巡官说：‘我认为已抓到我们想要的人了。’”福尔摩斯买了张票，上了火车。很快他就离开了伦敦，南行前往布莱克希斯。

当他敲响麦克法兰家的大门时，已将近十一点半了。那是一所大宅子，前面带一座郁郁葱葱的长条形花园。当麦克法兰夫人亲自来开门的时候，福尔摩斯感到有点惊讶。

“是麦克法兰夫人吗？早上好。我叫夏洛克·福尔摩斯，您儿子遇到了麻烦，我正尽力帮他。”

“哦，是福尔摩斯先生，请进。”夫人答道。

福尔摩斯跟着她走进屋后的一个小房间，那儿的炉火烧得很旺。他们坐了下来。

“约翰不是凶手。”她马上说了起来，“我了解我的儿子，福尔摩斯先生，而且——”

福尔摩斯举起一只手打断她。

“麦克法兰夫人，”他说，“我能得看出您很焦虑，但我有些问题必须要问您。”

“问什么都行。”她答道，“请随便问我吧。”

“关于奥尔达克先生，您都能告诉我些什么呢？”

一听到这个问题，麦克法兰夫人突然变得很激动。

“他是个——或者说曾经是个——很恶劣的人。”她说，“很久以前，我和他是朋友。他想娶我，但我发现他是个残忍的人，一个危险的人。我告诉他我不想再见到他了。六个月后，我就嫁给了现在的丈夫，也就是约翰的父亲。他并不像奥尔达克那么有钱，但他是个好人——他是一个好人，福尔摩斯先生，对约翰来说，也是个好父亲。我们一直都是个幸福的家庭。可现在出了这种事！”

“在你把奥尔达克打发走后，他做了什么？”福尔摩斯继续问道。

“他生气了，非常生气。他给我寄来了这个。”

麦克法兰夫人站起身，从屋角的书桌里取出一张照片。这是一张她年轻时的照片。照片中一道道黑色痕迹横贯在她的脸上，那是多年前奥尔达克用刀子在照片上划的，但福尔摩斯依然能看出她曾是个非常美丽的女人。

“照片是在我和我丈夫结婚的那天寄来的。”

福尔摩斯从她手里拿过照片，若有所思地端详起来。

“一个危险的人。”他说。

“哦，是的，”麦克法兰夫人表示同意，“一个非常危险的人。”

“那就奇怪了，”福尔摩斯继续道，“他在遗嘱里把所拥有的一切都留给了您的儿子。”

“我们并不想从那个人那儿得到任何东西，福尔摩斯先生。如果他死了，那我很高兴，但我知道杀他的并不是约翰。”

福尔摩斯站起身。“麦克法兰夫人，谢谢您。麦克法兰先生不在家吗？”

麦克法兰夫人摇了摇头。“他坐火车去了伦敦，去看看能不能救约翰。”她解释说。

“那我就不久留了，”福尔摩斯说，“请不要太焦虑，我的好夫人。如果您的儿子真的清白的话，我有把握我们可以说服警方。莱斯特雷德巡官有时会反应有点儿慢，不过他是个好警探。”

“谢谢您，福尔摩斯先生。”麦克法兰夫人说，“我确信您会尽全力帮助约翰。”

“麦克法兰夫人，您可以相信这一点。”福尔摩斯带着亲切的微笑答道。

麦克法兰夫人在她家的前门跟这位了不起的大侦探道别，看着他飞快地离开，朝火车站走去。






第四章


探访诺伍德

福尔摩斯在当天下午早些时候抵达了诺伍德。他没费什么劲儿就找到了位于锡德纳姆路上的幽谷山庄。这位建筑师的宅子又大又时髦，还有一个大花园，里面有很多古树。在房子旁边，福尔摩斯看到了那个贮木场，警方就是在那里找到了火灾后烧焦的残骸。他走进贮木场，看到各处都堆放着木材，还有几袋干草。他在地上看见一些烧焦的残骸，便蹲下身查看。这些就是乔纳斯·奥尔达克尸体的遗骸吗？这无法确定。福尔摩斯站起身来，回到花园里。

当他站在那儿若有所思地看着这座宅子时，一名警察走了出来。

“我能帮您吗，先生？”他问道。

“我是夏洛克·福尔摩斯，”这位大侦探说，“或许你听说过我的名字吧。”

“福尔摩斯先生啊！我当然知道您的名字了，先生。”那位警察吃惊地答道。他胖胖的，大概五十岁，有一张圆圆的脸和一双明亮的蓝眼睛。“我是巡佐贾德，来自苏格兰场。见到您非常高兴，先生。”

“见到你我也很高兴。”福尔摩斯说，“我在协助莱斯特雷德巡官进行调查。你在这儿发现什么线索了吗？”

贾德看上去特别高兴。他的蓝眼睛闪闪发光。

“是的，先生，我们找到了。我想您知道贮木场里那些烧焦的残骸吧？”

“我知道。”福尔摩斯肯定地说，“我自己也看到了。”

“嗯，我们在灰烬中找到了几个纽扣——而且我们认为它们就是奥尔达克先生裤子上的纽扣。这是一起谋杀啊，福尔摩斯先生，我们确信这一点。”

“也许是吧，”福尔摩斯说，“不过我更愿意自己来判断。我可以四处查看一下房子和花园吗，巡佐？”

“请查看吧，福尔摩斯先生，不过我想您会发现我们是正确的。这里发生了谋杀案，莱斯特雷德巡官也已经逮捕了罪犯。既然麦克法兰已被捕，我们大家都可以踏实地睡觉了。”

贾德回身进了房子，而福尔摩斯留在了外面的花园里。园里没什么花，而且跟位于布莱克希斯的麦克法兰家的花园非常不同。福尔摩斯蹲下身来查看草坪。这天天气暖和，草坪很干燥。他仔细地看了一个多钟头，却没在花园里找到任何值得注意的东西。接下来，他决定查看一下房子。前门是开着的，一名警察站在里面。

“早上好。”福尔摩斯边说边走进了房子。

他在门厅的尽头找到了奥尔达克的卧室。房间里没有警察，福尔摩斯花了很长的时间查看墙壁。他看到了深红色的血迹，还在地板上看到了奥尔达克和麦克法兰留下的脚印。可他没找到其他人的脚印。他检查了一下保险箱里的文件，还发现了这位建筑师的银行存折。他花了颇长的时间看这些存折，并饶有兴味地发现奥尔达克并不像所有人想的那样有钱。让福尔摩斯感到惊讶的是，奥尔达克在银行里没什么存款。

随后，他试图找出这所房子的房契，而它们却没和其他文件放在一起。福尔摩斯自问为何。当他确定卧室里再没别的东西可查看时，便穿过门厅，来到厨房。在那儿的餐桌旁，他看到了奥尔达克的管家莱克星顿太太。她是个小个子、深色皮肤、沉默寡言的女人，有着一双灰色的眼睛和一头银发。当大侦探走进房间跟她说话时，她并没有看他。

“早上好。我叫夏洛克·福尔摩斯，我在协助苏格兰场进行调查。”他说，“您是？”

“莱克星顿，”她头都没抬地答道，“莱克星顿太太，乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生的管家。”

“很高兴见到您，莱克星顿太太。”福尔摩斯继续道，并面对着她坐在了桌旁，“有关昨晚的事情您能告诉我些什么吗？”

女管家意味深长地看了福尔摩斯一眼。

“没什么，”她答道，“我没什么要跟您说的，夏洛克·福尔摩斯先生。”

“真没有吗？”福尔摩斯说，“那么您昨晚没有给麦克法兰先生开门吗？”

“我开了！”她愤怒地嚷道，“那个杀人犯！”

“啊！”福尔摩斯说，“那么您是能告诉我一些事了？”

莱克星顿太太看上去非常愤怒。

“九点半的时候，我给麦克法兰打开了这幢房子的前门。我现在才知道我竟然给一个杀人犯开了门！”

“然后呢？”福尔摩斯问。

“然后就没什么了。”她最后说道，“我当时感到非常累，一个小时后，也就是十点半的时候我就上床睡觉了。我的卧室位于房子的另一头。我很快就睡着了。我什么都没听见，什么也没看见。”

“您睡了一整晚都没醒过吗？”福尔摩斯问道。

“火燃烧的气味把我惊醒了。”莱克星顿太太答道，“我下了床，开始找奥尔达克先生。我找遍了这栋房子的每个房间，但哪儿也找不着他。当然了，我现在知道他死了。麦克法兰杀了他，然后在贮木场里把他的尸体烧了。奥尔达克先生是那么好、那么善良的一个人……”

“请您，”福尔摩斯说，“不要太难过。告诉我，奥尔达克先生有什么敌人吗？”

“每个人都有敌人啊。”莱克星顿太太回答说，“不过奥尔达克先生在幽谷山庄这儿过着非常平静的生活。在诺伍德，没有人想杀他。这就是为什么我知道麦克法兰是凶手。那个年轻人长着一双邪恶的眼睛，福尔摩斯先生，他有着一双杀人犯的眼睛。”

“谢谢您，莱克星顿太太。”福尔摩斯说，“您还有什么能告诉我的吗？任何能帮我们进行调查的线索？”

“我可以告诉您这个，”女管家答道，“警方今天早晨在贮木场的那些残骸中发现了几个纽扣。那些纽扣是奥尔达克先生的。那是他裤子上的纽扣。他昨晚穿的就是那条裤子。”

“您可是帮了大忙啊。”福尔摩斯说。他站起身。“不过我现在得走了。非常感谢，占用您的时间了，莱克星顿太太。”

这位管家突然站起来。“我试图救他，福尔摩斯先生，可怜的奥尔达克先生。”她说，“我跑出来，闯进贮木场，可木材非常干燥。火烧得太快了。我记不清最近一次下雨是什么时候了。那气味难闻极了……我觉得……”

“谢谢您，莱克星顿太太。”福尔摩斯又说了一次，“再见了。”

他离开厨房，关上了身后的门。在门厅里，他遇到了正从楼梯上走下来的贾德巡佐。

“福尔摩斯先生，”这位警察说道，“我希望您的这趟探访会有所帮助。”

“非常有帮助，巡佐。”福尔摩斯回答说，“谢谢你。我也希望你的调查进展顺利。”

“我们已经抓到凶手了，福尔摩斯先生。”警察答道，“莱斯特雷德巡官目前正在苏格兰场跟他谈话呢。他的名字是约翰·赫克托·麦克法兰，他为了图谋奥尔达克先生的房产和钱财而杀害了他。”

“非常高兴你们抓到了想抓的人。”福尔摩斯脸上又露出了他那古怪的微笑。“很明显嘛，我确信，麦克法兰先生谋杀了乔纳斯·奥尔达克，并在贮木场焚烧了他的尸体。”

“很高兴听到您持有相同意见，先生。”贾德回答说，“再见，福尔摩斯先生。”

“再见，巡佐。”福尔摩斯说。

他慢悠悠地走向前门，仔细地查看门厅的墙壁，然后离开了建筑师的房子。来到外面，他最后看了一眼花园、房子和贮木场，在笔记本上画了张示意图。然后他穿过诺伍德的街道，前往火车站。这是一个晴朗的夏日，可福尔摩斯却高兴不起来。

在回伦敦的火车上，他问了自己一连串的问题。约翰·麦克法兰真的会是凶手吗？乔纳斯·奥尔达克真的已经死了吗？为什么这个建筑师突然决定将自己的所有钱财都留给一个他根本不认识的年轻人呢？还有，他为什么要在快车上写下自己的遗嘱呢？福尔摩斯虽然眼下不知道这些问题的答案，但他坚信这些都是非常关键的问题。






第五章


谁是科尼利厄斯先生？

当福尔摩斯回到贝克街221号B的时候已是傍晚时分。赫德森太太给他开了门，他跟着她上了楼。华生正在他们的房间里等他。

“福尔摩斯！”他叫道，“终于回来了！你都去哪儿了？我很担心。”

“没必要担心，华生。”福尔摩斯回答道，“我去了趟布莱克希斯，还有诺伍德。”

“你一定得告诉我所有的情况。”华生说道，他变得很兴奋。

“一会儿吧，”福尔摩斯答道，“我得先多想一想。”

“可是福尔摩斯……！”华生愤愤地喊起来。

福尔摩斯举起一只手打断了他。

“我必须得思考一下，华生。”福尔摩斯重申道。他走到房间的角落，拿起他的小提琴。赫德森太太摇着头离开了房间。华生气哼哼地开始看书，福尔摩斯则开始拉起小提琴。

他拉了一个多钟头，双眼紧闭。华生知道自己的朋友正陷入深思之中。他不得不耐心等待，直到福尔摩斯准备好向他讲述探访布莱克希斯和诺伍德的情况。

终于，福尔摩斯把小提琴放到桌子上，坐了下来。

“华生，”他说，“这真是奇怪的一天啊。我先后跟麦克法兰先生的母亲和奥尔达克先生的管家——一位叫莱克星顿的太太——交谈过，可我还是搞不懂昨晚在幽谷山庄到底发生过什么。或许我们的麦克法兰先生终究不是清白的，而是一名邪恶的凶手。”

“你真的这么认为吗，福尔摩斯？”华生问道。

“不，华生，我不这么认为。”福尔摩斯答道，“我依然认为他是清白的。可是，正如莱斯特雷德巡官告诉我们的，他杀乔纳斯·奥尔达克有着充足的动机，而且他昨晚就在幽谷山庄。”

“你从他母亲那里了解到了什么，福尔摩斯？”华生说道。

“我了解到一些非常有趣的事情。”福尔摩斯答道，“我得知奥尔达克曾向她求过婚。”

“真的？”

“真的，”福尔摩斯说，“而且，当她拒绝的时候，他非常不满。他愤怒至极，寄给她一张她的照片，上面她的脸被刀子划了。麦克法兰夫人当年可是个非常美丽的年轻女人，华生。她嫁给了另外一个男人，一个没什么钱的男人，这就不难理解建筑师为什么感到颇受伤害了。那张照片是在她嫁给约翰·麦克法兰的父亲当天寄到的。”

“天哪！”华生说道。“那么，奥尔达克在恋爱上运气不佳喽。”

“是的。”福尔摩斯表示同意，“可奇怪的是他想把自己所拥有的一切都留给麦克法兰夫人的儿子。真是奇怪啊。”

“麦克法兰夫人感到很惊讶吗？”华生问。

“‘我不想从乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生那儿得到任何东西，’她说，”福尔摩斯答道，“‘而且我儿子也不想从他那儿得到什么。他死了，我很开心。’我理解她的感受，华生。她是个好女人，这点我很确信，好得乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生根本配不上。”

“她告诉你有关他的更多事情了吗？”

“没有，再没有了。”福尔摩斯说，“接着，我就去了诺伍德，去了幽谷山庄，亲自去查看了建筑师遇害的那个地方。那是座大而时髦的宅子，带一个大花园。里面有很多树。”

“那奥尔达克是个很有钱的人喽。”华生推测道。

“他有一座大房子和一座大花园，”福尔摩斯回答说，“可他根本就没那么有钱。我看过他的银行存折了。”说到这儿，福尔摩斯打开桌上的烟盒，抽出一支烟。在点烟之前，他给自己的朋友留一点儿时间琢磨一下他的那番话。

“我明白了。”华生终于说道。

“是吗？”福尔摩斯问。“我还不确定自己明白了呢。不过，我得继续讲我的故事了。就像我刚说的，奥尔达克的宅子又大又时髦，旁边就是那个出了名的贮木场。”他拿出自己的笔记本，打开放在了面前的桌子上。“看这儿，华生，我画了张示意图。”

华生站起身，穿过房间，站在福尔摩斯身后，看着那张图。

“你看，”福尔摩斯继续说道，“这里是锡德纳姆路，这儿是幽谷山庄，还有这就是那个贮木场。左边是开向建筑师卧室的落地窗。就如你看到的，从路边有可能会看到卧室里面。”

“这点重要吗，福尔摩斯？”华生问道。

“我不知道，”福尔摩斯答道，“可能吧。莱斯特雷德巡官今天下午不在诺伍德，但我碰到了他的巡佐，一个叫贾德的人。当然了，他非常确定我们的麦克法兰先生是个杀人犯。警方在贮木场的灰烬中找到几个纽扣，要知道，这些纽扣是奥尔达克裤子上的。于是，巡佐贾德说，建筑师死了，所以麦克法兰就是凶手。”

“这看起来可不妙啊，福尔摩斯。”华生说。

“是啊。”福尔摩斯表示同意，“恐怕我们的年轻朋友这回可是陷入大麻烦了。但我们决不能放弃希望，华生。我在跟贾德巡佐谈完话后，检查了花园，但什么也没找到。然后我进了房子。我先是查看了建筑师的卧室。墙上的血迹还很新鲜，而且我看见地板上有奥尔达克的脚印，还有约翰·麦克法兰的，但却没有其他人的。我又看了从保险箱里拿出的文件，它们就搁在桌上，可我确定有些文件不见了。我在哪儿都找不到房子的房契。”

“你认为它们会在哪儿呢，福尔摩斯？”华生问。

“我也不知道。但我确信我们的年轻朋友没有拿。如果奥尔达克想把自已的房子和钱财都留给他，那他就没有理由去偷房契呀。喔，华生，我接下来又跟建筑师的女管家莱克星顿太太谈了话。她是个沉默寡言的小个子女人，在跟我说话时，她一次都没看我。我确信她知道的事情比她愿意告诉我的多很多。她承认自己在昨晚九点半的时候给约翰·麦克法兰开了前门。她是十点半上的床——她的卧室在房子的另一头——然后睡着了。她后来醒过来，闻到火烧的烟味，她就起了床，四处寻找奥尔达克，但她没找到他。当然，她认为这是因为他死了，被谋杀了。”

“她是怎么看建筑师的？”华生问道。

福尔摩斯举起一只手。“一个好人，她告诉我。他当然有敌人，因为每个人都有敌人，但他在诺伍德的生活是平静的。没有人想让他死——除了杀他的人，我们的朋友麦克法兰。她告诉我，他有一双邪恶的眼睛，华生。”

“邪恶的眼睛？”华生回答说。“那个女人疯了吧？”

“没疯，华生，”福尔摩斯说，“但她也不是很有帮助。莱克星顿太太没告诉我什么事情。就像我刚说的，我确信她知道的不止这些。”

“你在诺伍德没找到任何能帮助麦克法兰的线索吗？”华生问道。

福尔摩斯看起来若有所思的样子。“或许吧。”他最后说道，“你还记得吧，我说过我看到了奥尔达克的银行存折，而且它表明他并非像所有人想的那样富有。”

华生点点头。

“嗯，”福尔摩斯继续说道，“当我查看他的支票簿时发现他给一个叫科尼利厄斯先生的人写了大量的支票。这些支票上的钱可是一笔大数额。这位科尼利厄斯先生是谁呢，华生？我们的建筑师为何要付给他这么多钱呢？这是我想要知道的。”

“这个线索或许能帮助我们的年轻朋友，还能向莱斯特雷德巡官证明他不是凶手，他是清白的。”华生嚷道，福尔摩斯发现的新情况令他振奋不已。

“也许可以，华生。”福尔摩斯表示同意，“不过眼下，我们就再也没有什么证据了，而莱斯特雷德则有麦克法兰到访过奥尔达克家的证据、贮木场灰烬中建筑师裤子上的纽扣，还有莱克星顿太太的陈述。我得承认，华生，我觉得希望不大啊。”

福尔摩斯熄灭了烟，又拿起小提琴。那晚华生独自吃了晚餐，并早早上床睡觉了。福尔摩斯则根本没上床休息。他一整晚都在拉小提琴，一支又一支地抽烟，思考着有关约翰·麦克法兰和乔纳斯·奥尔达克的事情。终于，当第二天早晨太阳升起时，他在椅子上睡着了。






第六章


墙上的拇指印

第二天早上，华生下楼来用早餐的时候吃惊地发现自己的朋友正在熟睡。他轻轻地摇了摇他。

“醒醒吧，”他说，“赫德森太太很快就过来了。”

福尔摩斯立刻醒了过来。“早上好啊，华生。”他答道。他未等医生发问，就看出了其眼中的疑惑。“是啊，我一整晚都呆在这儿。是的，我没怎么睡觉。不，我不知我们该如何救出我们的年轻朋友约翰·麦克法兰。”

“哦，”华生说，“那么，或许你该在早餐前洗漱一下，换换衣服吧。”

“你说得没错，华生。”福尔摩斯表示同意。他离开了房间，华生在桌旁坐下。不一会儿，赫德森太太就带着早报和一封电报走了进来。

“早上好，华生医生，”她说，“这是您的报纸，还有这封刚到的电报，是寄给福尔摩斯先生的，好像很重要。”

华生接过电报，若有所思地看着。

“我确信它很重要，”他表示同意，“可能跟麦克法兰先生有关。”

“就是那个昨天早上来这儿的年轻人吗？”

“没错，”华生说，“莱斯特雷德巡官确信他是凶犯，可福尔摩斯和我都不这么认为。”

“一个凶犯？”女管家答道，“嗯，他是个古怪的年轻人——如此狂乱和激动。但是个凶犯吗？我不这么认为。”

“赫德森太太，我觉得您的看法很好。”华生说道，“那现在我是不是闻到我的早餐了？”

女管家笑了。“您吃早餐总是很积极的，华生医生。”她说，“大约十分钟就好了。”

赫德森太太一离开房间，福尔摩斯就回来了。他马上看到了华生手里的那封电报。

“那个看起来蛮有意思的。”他说，“给我的？”

华生点点头，递给他那封电报。福尔摩斯用一把裁纸刀打开了它，默默地读完。他什么也没说，而是望向窗外的贝克街。

“怎么了？”华生问道，他再也等不及了。

福尔摩斯回过头望着自己的朋友。“是莱斯特雷德发的。这位巡官此刻正在幽谷山庄。他说有证据证明麦克法兰就是谋杀乔纳斯·奥尔达克的凶手。在他看来，我们现在应该放弃了。”

“这看起来可不妙啊，福尔摩斯。”华生说道。

令他惊讶的是，福尔摩斯笑了。

“莱斯特雷德巡官一直都确信是约翰·麦克法兰杀了建筑师，”他说，“而现在，他说自己有了证据。那咱们去看看他的证据吧。现在还不是放弃的时候呢，华生。我们马上就去诺伍德。”

“可是福尔摩斯，”华生说，“现在还很早呢，而且——”

此时，赫德森太太端着他们的早餐来了。

“而且你还没吃早餐呢。”福尔摩斯微笑着接话道，“好吧，华生，我们早餐后再去吧。我相信莱斯特雷德巡官的证据可以等等的。”

福尔摩斯自己什么都没吃，所以华生享用了一顿非常丰盛的早餐。他们离开贝克街时是九点多。他们叫了辆出租马车前往火车站。没过多久，他们就到了幽谷山庄的前门。华生摁响了门铃。

“现在，华生，”福尔摩斯说，“你将见到沉默寡言的莱克星顿太太了。”

一会儿，门开了，管家站在他们面前。

“福尔摩斯先生，”她说，“您有什么事吗？”

“早安，莱克星顿太太。”福尔摩斯说道，“这位是我的好朋友，华生医生。莱斯特雷德巡官在这儿吗？”

“他在。”女管家答道。

“请带我们去见他。”

福尔摩斯和华生走进屋，跟着莱克星顿太太来到房子的后端。莱斯特雷德正坐在桌旁。他看起来很高兴见到他们。

“福尔摩斯先生，华生医生！早上好啊！”他站起身说道，“我想你们是来看我的证据的。”

“没错。”福尔摩斯面带微笑地表示同意，“我真为您感到高兴，莱斯特雷德，您一直都是对的。”

“您能承认自己错了真是太好了。”巡官说道，“对我而言，我从来都不认为麦克法兰是无辜的。那个人就是凶手。”

“我相信您是正确的，巡官。”福尔摩斯表示同意，“不过，也许现在我们可以看看您的证据了吧。”

“当然可以，”莱斯特雷德说，“跟我来。”

他站起身，福尔摩斯和华生跟着他走进门厅。

“在这儿。”巡官说，“看看这个。”

福尔摩斯和华生蹲下身查看墙上的血迹。

“这是个拇指印，”莱斯特雷德解释道，“约翰·麦克法兰的拇指印。”

“你确定吗？”华生问道。

“哦，是的，”莱斯特雷德回答说，“那就是约翰·麦克法兰的拇指印。很遗憾，华生医生，您的年轻朋友杀了乔纳斯·奥尔达克。他会为这一罪行付出生命代价的。”

福尔摩斯看上去若有所思。

“您很沉默啊，福尔摩斯先生。”巡官说道，“您没什么可说的吗？”

福尔摩斯站起身。“就如同我以前说过的，巡官，很明显，有关麦克法兰的判定您是正确的。他为了图谋建筑师的钱财和房产而杀害了他。我只有两个问题。”

“说吧。”莱斯特雷德说，他收起了笑容。

“首先，”福尔摩斯说，“是谁找到这个拇指印的？”

“是莱克星顿太太，那个管家，她第一个看见了它。”巡官答道，“她指给贾德巡佐看了。”

“真的？”福尔摩斯看起来对这个答案颇为满意。

“您的第二个问题是什么，福尔摩斯先生？”莱斯特雷德问道。

“为什么您的人昨天没发现这个拇指印呢？”

“这很好解释啊，”巡官回答说，“他们昨天没有找什么拇指印，也没在门厅里找。而且这个指印有些不易被发现。”

“是的，它不易被发现，”福尔摩斯表示同意，“我和华生必须得蹲下身才能看见它。而莱克星顿太太看见了它。或许她正在刷洗地板。我想您确信这个拇指印昨天就在这儿，巡官？”

“它当然在了！”莱斯特雷德气哼哼地答道。“难道您认为麦克法兰会在夜里离开苏格兰场，跑到这儿来在墙上留下一个带血的拇指印？”

“或许不会。”福尔摩斯若有所思地说道。

“那我得向二位告辞了，我必须要回苏格兰场跟凶手谈一谈了。”

莱斯特雷德离开了房间。

“那么约翰·麦克法兰就是凶手了。”华生忧伤地说。

“我可不这么认为，华生。”福尔摩斯答道。

“什么？可是莱斯特雷德的证据——这个拇指印！你怎么解释，福尔摩斯？”

“这个无法解释，”福尔摩斯说，“而且其中颇有缘由。昨天我来这儿的时候，这面墙上没有拇指印。”






第七章


顶楼上的人

华生不知该想些什么好了。

“我不明白，福尔摩斯，”他最后说道，“我压根儿就不明白。如果拇指印昨天没在这里——”

福尔摩斯举起一只手打断了他。

“有两种可能性，华生。第一种是约翰·麦克法兰在夜里离开了苏格兰场的小牢房，乘火车前往诺伍德，来到幽谷山庄，在这儿的墙上留下了一个带血的拇指印。我认为这不太可能，华生，你觉得呢？”

“当然不可能了，福尔摩斯。”华生说。

“那么我和你，还有莱斯特雷德巡官都这么想，而且不是约翰·麦克法兰留下了这个拇指印。”

“可莱斯特雷德说，这是麦克法兰的拇指印啊！”华生激动地说道。

“哦，我相信它是麦克法兰的拇指印，”福尔摩斯答道，“可我也确信在这儿留下它的不是约翰·麦克法兰。来，华生。”

华生医生跟着他的朋友走出屋子，来到花园里。

“我们要干什么，福尔摩斯？”他问。

“我们要观察，”福尔摩斯说，“我们要仔仔细细地观察。”

福尔摩斯站在花园里，若有所思地看着房子的正面。然后，他走过草坪，查看房子的侧面。接着，华生跟着他来到屋后，然后又到了另一侧，面向的是锡德纳姆路。在这儿，福尔摩斯站了很久，一副十分感兴趣的表情。

“很好。”最后他说道，然后很快地走回前门，门还开着。华生跟着他进了屋，下楼来到了地下室。福尔摩斯在这一层仔细地查看了每一个房间，然后在房子的第一层也如此查看了一遍。很多房间都没有家具，而福尔摩斯却若有所思地查看墙壁和地板。然后，他和华生上了楼，查看了所有的卧室和浴室。这之后，他们爬上了房子的顶楼，那里有三间卧室，全都空空如也。福尔摩斯开始笑了起来，笑得没完没了。华生望着自己的朋友，目瞪口呆。

“福尔摩斯，怎么了？”他问，“你是不是感觉不太舒服啊？”

福尔摩斯立刻止住了笑，转向华生。

“我感觉很好，华生。”他面带一丝古怪的微笑说道，“来，我们去找莱斯特雷德巡官。”

他们下了楼，发现巡官坐在桌子旁。他正忙着写案情报告。

“您已经在写案情报告了吗，巡官？”福尔摩斯问道，“您很肯定已经抓到凶犯了吗？”

莱斯特雷德停了下来，放下笔。他看起来不太高兴。

“福尔摩斯先生，我已经给您看了我的证据。约翰·麦克法兰的拇指印证明他杀了乔纳斯·奥尔达克。我抓到我的凶犯了。我们在这儿谈话的同时，他正在苏格兰场的小牢房里。”

“我认为，巡官，”福尔摩斯说，“您应该在写完报告前再跟一个人谈谈。”

“这人是谁？”莱斯特雷德问，“我在哪儿能找到他呢？”

“今天您带到这儿多少名警察，巡官？”

莱斯特雷德感到很惊讶，但他马上回答了。

“贾德巡佐和另外两个。”

“那他们都是大块头、大嗓门的壮汉吗？”

莱斯特雷德看看华生。华生又看看莱斯特雷德。他俩都迷惑不解。

“他们都很高，如果需要，我也肯定他们都能很大声地喊叫。”巡官回答说，“可我不明白——”

福尔摩斯举起一只手打断了他。

“您会明白的，巡官。现在可否请您叫一下您的人呢？”

显然，莱斯特雷德不太高兴，可他还是离开了房间，去找贾德巡佐和其他的人。五分钟后，福尔摩斯和华生在门厅里遇到了莱斯特雷德和他的手下。

“贾德巡佐，你在贮木场能看到一些干草。可否请你把它搬进屋子？”福尔摩斯问道。

贾德看看莱斯特雷德，后者点了点头。几分钟后，贾德抱着一袋干草回来了。

“这会帮我们找到我们想找的那个人。”福尔摩斯说，“现在，华生，你兜里有火柴吗？”

华生点点头。

“那么我们准备好了。请跟我来。”

警察们跟着福尔摩斯和华生爬上楼梯来到房子的顶层。当他们到达时，莱斯特雷德的脸变得很红。

“您这是在干什么，福尔摩斯先生？”他气愤地问道。“我希望这不是一个玩笑。”

“您用不着等太久的，巡官。”福尔摩斯面带微笑地说，“可否请您让您的一个人从浴室里拿点儿水来？”

“水！”莱斯特雷德答道。“福尔摩斯先生，我真的必须……”

“拜托了，巡官。”

莱斯特雷德想了好一会儿，但最终还是派他的一个人去浴室取水了。当那个人回来时，福尔摩斯打开了一扇窗，然后让华生用一根火柴点燃了干草。干草很快就燃烧了起来，瞬间，到处都弥漫着烟。

“现在，我们就要找到我们想找的那个人了，莱斯特雷德。”福尔摩斯说道，“我们大家一起大喊‘着火了’好吗？一、二、三……”

福尔摩斯、华生和四名警察都扯着嗓门大喊了起来：“着火了！”

“再来一遍！”福尔摩斯说。

“着火了！”

“再来一遍！”

“着火了！”这回，喊声非常大，以至于连莱斯特雷德都用手指堵住了耳朵。就在此时，怪事发生了：墙上的一扇隐密的门突然开了，一个小个子男人跑了出来。

“这就是您要找的人，巡官。”福尔摩斯笑着说，“贾德巡佐，请往干草上浇些水，把我们的小火熄了吧。谢谢您，巡官，这位就是乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生，诺伍德的建筑师。我想我们将会知道他还有另一个名字——科尼利厄斯先生。”

华生和警察们久久地紧盯着这个小个子男人，回不过神来。他站在他们面前，浑身发抖。他有一双灰色的眼睛和一头白发，而且非常丑陋。

“喔，”莱斯特雷德在火熄灭时终于说道，“你没有什么要说的吗，乔纳斯·奥尔达克先生？”

莱斯特雷德的脸气得通红。奥尔达克看起来很害怕，但他却激动地大笑起来。

“这是个玩笑，巡官，”他解释道，“不会再这样了。我从来都不愿意给别人制造任何麻烦的。”

“什么？”莱斯特雷德愤怒地说道，“你不想制造任何麻烦？可是我们在这儿说话的同时，一个清白无辜的人正呆在苏格兰场的小牢房里呢！”

“只是我的小玩笑而已，巡官。”建筑师又说了一遍。

“把他带走，巡佐。”莱斯特雷德说，“这个人很危险。”

奥尔达克跟贾德和其他的警察下了楼。莱斯特雷德转向福尔摩斯。

“喔，福尔摩斯先生，我得再一次感谢您了。这回是我错了，而您是正确的。约翰·麦克法兰是清白的。这里显然没发生什么谋杀案。”

“没错，巡官。”福尔摩斯微笑道，“但我理解您的失误。乔纳斯·奥尔达克非常聪明。”

“可夏洛克·福尔摩斯更聪明啊！”华生说，“干得很好，福尔摩斯。”

“谢谢你，华生。现在让我们来看看这间密室吧。”

华生和莱斯特雷德跟着福尔摩斯进了房间，它大概有两米长。从过道是无法看见密室门的，而在房间里，他们发现了一些家具、食物和水，还有报纸和书籍。福尔摩斯捡起一张报纸。

“是今天的早报。”他说，“我敢肯定奥尔达克一定很高兴读到有关麦克法兰先生被捕的消息。而且我想莱克星顿太太就是那个给他送报纸、食物和水的人。”

“我得再跟那个女人谈一次话了。”莱斯特雷德说，“我一直觉得她有什么秘密。”

“或许她有一个很大的秘密呢。”福尔摩斯说，“也许她对于奥尔达克先生来说不仅仅是个管家。”

莱斯特雷德看上去若有所思。“那当然了，”他最后说道，“难怪她愿意为他说谎呢。她会为此进监狱的，福尔摩斯先生。”

“很好，”福尔摩斯答道，“没有她的诺伍德会是个更美好的地方。”

“我还有一个问题要问您，福尔摩斯先生。”莱斯特雷德说，“奥尔达克为什么要这么做？他为什么想让我逮捕约翰·麦克法兰？”

福尔摩斯意味深长地看了巡官一眼。

“很多年前，巡官，”他解释道，“乔纳斯·奥尔达克坠入了爱河。他爱上了约翰·麦克法兰的母亲。他们在一起度过了一段时光，但麦克法兰夫人发现奥尔达克是个残忍、危险的人，她就把他打发走了。不久，她嫁给了约翰的父亲。他们结婚的那天，奥尔达克寄给她一张她自己的照片，上面她的脸被刀划了。他非常生气，而且一直记恨着。”

“我明白了。”莱斯特雷德说，“那这就是你去布莱克希斯的原因。”

“我想跟约翰的父母谈谈。”福尔摩斯解释说，“我无法理解为什么奥尔达克要在自己的遗嘱中想把一切都留给约翰。”

“我可真愚蠢啊。”莱斯特雷德黯然神伤地说道。

“才不是呢。”华生善意地说，“不过夏洛克·福尔摩斯真是太聪明了。”

福尔摩斯自己则什么都没说。






第八章


重获自由的人

两天后，在一个晴好的夏日早晨，福尔摩斯和华生又坐在他们位于贝克街的房间里。华生正兴奋地读着报。

“在这儿呢，福尔摩斯！”他叫道，“我们那个诺伍德建筑师的报道。听听这段：‘苏格兰场的莱斯特雷德巡官发现乔纳斯·奥尔达克仍然活着，并在他位于诺伍德幽谷山庄那栋房子的顶楼找到了他，他藏在一个密室中。’可莱斯特雷德根本什么都没发现啊，福尔摩斯！这太糟了。如果你——”

“这不重要，华生。”福尔摩斯平静地说，“重要的是奥尔达克将会入狱，而约翰·麦克法兰则不会因为一个他没犯过的罪而死去。莱斯特雷德终究知道了真正发生了什么。”

“我不理解你为何能对此如此平静。”华生愤愤地说，“是你发现建筑师没死的，不是莱斯特雷德。莱斯特雷德确信约翰·麦克法兰就是凶手。”

就在此时，门开了，赫德森太太走了进来。

“一个年轻人要见您，福尔摩斯先生。”她微笑着说。

约翰·麦克法兰走进了房间。他显得镇定且开心。福尔摩斯和华生都站了起来。

“麦克法兰先生，”福尔摩斯说，“我很高兴见到您。”

“福尔摩斯先生，华生医生，我该说什么好呢？”麦克法兰回答说，“非常感谢你们为我做的一切。你们救了我的命。警方曾确信是我杀了乔纳斯·奥尔达克。”

华生让年轻人坐下，赫德森太太离开了他们。福尔摩斯从桌上的烟盒里拿出一支烟点上。

“我曾确信自己会死。”麦克法兰继续道，“我曾去过幽谷山庄。我也有很充足的动机。而且当警方在墙上发现了我的拇指印时……请告诉我吧，福尔摩斯先生，您是如何向莱斯特雷德巡官证明我是清白的？”

福尔摩斯好一会儿都没说话。他看起来若有所思的样子。

“过了很长时间我才意识到其实并没有发生谋杀案，但当我意识到这点时，我就明白了一切。奥尔达克曾爱过你的母亲，当她嫁给另一个男人时，他非常愤怒。去年他的生意遇到许多麻烦，并损失了很多钱。他的计划是消失，或许跟莱克星顿太太一起，然后用另一个名字——科尼利厄斯先生——开始一段新生活。他想让所有人都认为他死了，因为他不想让任何人去找他。而且他还想让你的父母亲受到伤害。他想让你为一起从未发生的罪行去死。”

“可在贮木场里烧焦的残骸——那是什么呢？”麦克法兰很想知道。

“我认为是一只死狗，”福尔摩斯答道，“不是建筑师的尸体。”

“多邪恶的人啊！”麦克法兰喊道，“我母亲在他求婚时拒绝了他是对的。”

“哦，是啊，”福尔摩斯表示同意，“乔纳斯·奥尔达克是个非常恶劣的人，我希望他能在监狱里呆很久。”

“我真不知该如何谢您，福尔摩斯先生。”麦克法兰说，“能在遇到麻烦时来找您，我感到非常万幸。”

福尔摩斯熄灭了烟，转向华生。

“我们今早有空吗，华生？”他问道。

“是的，”他的朋友意外地答道，“你为什么这么问呢？”

“多么美好的早晨啊。”福尔摩斯说，“我们出门吧。”

华生和麦克法兰跟着福尔摩斯下了楼，来到贝克街上。阳光照耀，伦敦的街道暖意融融。

“一个美好的早晨。”福尔摩斯又说了一遍，“华生，请帮我们叫辆出租马车。”

十分钟后，三人坐上了一辆出租马车，向南前往苏格兰场。

“我们为什么去苏格兰场呢，福尔摩斯？”华生问道。

“我相信我们的好朋友，莱斯特雷德巡官，有些事情要跟麦克法兰先生说。”福尔摩斯答道。

在苏格兰场，他们在莱斯特雷德的办公室找到了他。巡官见到他们颇为惊讶。

“我正在写案情报告。”他说。

“我觉得您可能有些事情要跟麦克法兰先生说，巡官。”福尔摩斯说。此时这个年轻人已跟着大侦探和华生医生走进了莱斯特雷德的办公室。

“哦，当然了。”莱斯特雷德同意地说。他看起来不怎么高兴。“麦克法兰先生，很抱歉我误认为您是凶手。我当然是错了，而福尔摩斯先生是正确的。我希望您在苏格兰场这儿度过的时光不会太糟糕。”

“那不是我生命中最快乐的时光，”麦克法兰答道，“不过重要的是我现在是个自由的人了——多亏了夏洛克·福尔摩斯先生啊。”

“是啊，福尔摩斯先生一直以来帮了很大的忙，这回也是。”莱斯特雷德说，“我们在一起合作得非常好，福尔摩斯和我。”

福尔摩斯笑了。华生看起来很生气，但什么也没说。

“福尔摩斯先生，既然您正好在这儿，”巡官继续说道，“而我正在写报告，我还有一个问题要问您。麦克法兰先生的拇指印为什么会在墙上呢？”

“奥尔达克把它留在那儿的。”福尔摩斯解释说，“他和麦克法兰先生一起处理文件时，他让麦克法兰先生用蜡封了一封信。然后他就在蜡上得到了约翰的拇指印，再把这个指印沾上些自己的血留在了墙上。”

“非常聪明。”莱斯特雷德说。

“是的。”福尔摩斯表示同意，“他唯一的问题出在：我知道那个拇指印前一天还不在那儿。麦克法兰先生当时还在苏格兰场的小牢房里，他没法把它留在那儿，于是我问自己是谁干的。这个谜的答案很明显。当然是奥尔达克了。这位诺伍德的建筑师现在怎么样？

“他并不开心。”莱斯特雷德说着，终于露出了笑容。“他说这是个玩笑。而且他当然不想伤害这位麦克法兰先生。”

“一个奇怪的玩笑！”华生医生说道。

“是啊，”福尔摩斯表示同意，“让一个人去死可真是个非常奇怪的玩笑啊！”

“我得感谢您，福尔摩斯先生，”莱斯特雷德说，“因为您救了一个无辜的人的生命。”

福尔摩斯笑了。

“巡官，那是我的职责啊：挽救无辜的人，并确保那些有罪的人进监狱。只要我能做到这一点，我就是个快乐的人了。”


[image: alt]



[image: alt]


OEBPS/Image00052.jpg





OEBPS/Image00053.jpg





OEBPS/Image00051.jpg





OEBPS/Image00005.jpg





OEBPS/Image00049.jpg





OEBPS/Image00006.jpg





OEBPS/Image00050.jpg





OEBPS/Image00003.jpg





OEBPS/Image00047.jpg





OEBPS/Image00004.jpg
<m





OEBPS/Image00048.jpg





OEBPS/Image00001.jpg





OEBPS/Image00045.jpg





OEBPS/Image00002.jpg





OEBPS/Image00046.jpg





OEBPS/Image00043.jpg





OEBPS/Image00044.jpg





OEBPS/Image00009.jpg





OEBPS/Image00010.jpg





OEBPS/Image00007.jpg





OEBPS/Image00008.jpg





OEBPS/Image00041.jpg
&) could we all

Do you have
nothing to say?

John McFarlane’s
thumbprint proves
that he killed
Jonas.

What are we doing?

() ltwasa
joke.

Are you writing your
report already?

It was not John
McFarlane who left this
thumbprint.

I think that you
should speak to one
more person.

&) You will find
some hay in the
timber yard.






OEBPS/Image00042.jpg





OEBPS/Image00038.jpg





OEBPS/Image00039.jpg





OEBPS/Image00036.jpg





OEBPS/Image00037.jpg
opinion

cab

gently

telegram

i
.
Joorbell

thumbprint





OEBPS/Image00063.jpg
BREGREHE:
BEEER

Sherlock Holmes:
The Norwood Mystery






OEBPS/Image00034.jpg





OEBPS/Image00035.jpg





OEBPS/Image00032.jpg





OEBPS/Image00033.jpg





OEBPS/Image00000.jpg
T E
RS

Sherlock Holmes:
The Norwood Mystery

SMNEHF M HARIE
FOREIGN LANGUAGE TEACHING AND RESEARCH PRESS

=

BEMING






OEBPS/Image00040.jpg





OEBPS/Image00031.jpg





OEBPS/Image00027.jpg
RUCEL
TLUGK l\'\.'\‘\'F\\\\

OVENCING





OEBPS/Image00028.jpg





OEBPS/Image00025.jpg





OEBPS/Image00026.jpg
Holmes thinks

Holmes goes Io’l?\:cm
Lestrade is sure

Holmes is surprised

Mrs McFarlane tells Holmes

John McFarlane’s father

Holmes tells McFarlane

1

that Mckarlane is the murderer of Jonas
Oldacre.

that Oldacre wrote his will on the train to
London.

to speak to John McFarlane’s parents.
that Jonas Oldacre was her friend

has taken the train to London to try to help
John.

that Lestrade is a good but slow detective.

‘when Mrs McFarlane opens the door.





OEBPS/Image00023.jpg





OEBPS/Image00024.jpg





OEBPS/Image00021.jpg





OEBPS/Image00022.jpg





OEBPS/Image00029.jpg





OEBPS/Image00030.jpg
a1

=z
o
=
»
o
<






OEBPS/Image00065.jpg





OEBPS/Image00061.jpg





OEBPS/Image00062.jpg
%ﬁ‘ EamEEn *’E.

BAMRE EANEFRERER

(AR BERIRD ooz
CCETBIGRTRED 52115 (Project) . iE%5e58 ( Grammar

Check) , IHFESIZZIMEEZIRS

W\ EEREE

B0

8 H\EsEax

| W\ FEEE

AR
HhAHLEY

Rt http://www.fltrp.com






OEBPS/Image00016.jpg
lawyer
astonished
will

French w'm(lows

dining room






OEBPS/Image00060.jpg
dry carefully hungry daily happy angry deeply sunny weekly quickly
angrily thoughtfully _early-friendly happily warmly busy






OEBPS/Image00017.jpg





OEBPS/Image00014.jpg





OEBPS/Image00058.jpg





OEBPS/Image00015.jpg





OEBPS/Image00059.jpg





OEBPS/Image00012.jpg





OEBPS/Image00056.jpg
LONDON

“TO NORWOOD.





OEBPS/Image00013.jpg
e & 8 - =

“Where are all those clever crlmma\s?‘\
‘L like living a quiet life myself;
The police want to arrest me,"

“He comes from a good family,

Can | ask why the police have not already
arrested you?

‘I am arresting you for the murder of Jonas.
Oltiaeret

v oA N -

says Lestrade to Mcrarlane.
Holmes asks Watson.

says Watson to Holmes
Holmes asks McFarlane
says McFarlane to Holmes.

thinks Watson about McFarlane.





OEBPS/Image00057.jpg
happy to do surprised-to-get™ sorry to say

impossible to explain
easy to understand

astonished to read
happy to leave

funny to see
pleased to meet
sad to learn






OEBPS/Image00054.jpg





OEBPS/Image00011.jpg





OEBPS/Image00055.jpg
sealed  hanks to
wax
realized  commit

suilty






OEBPS/Image00020.jpg





OEBPS/Image00018.jpg





OEBPS/Image00019.jpg





